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INFINITE POSSIBILITIES: 
Smart machines and the rise of AI





































































































ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE

After years in the wilderness, Artificial Intelligence (AI) 
and Machine Learning (ML) are emerging as the next 
great technology platform. This back-end 
infrastructure designed to garner insight from Big 
Data has captured the imagination following high 
profile AI successes such as Google’s AlphaGo (which 
in 2016 beat the world’s best Go players) and 
Liberatus, an AI created at Carnegie Mellon University 
that beat four human professional poker players.  
While AI is not a new concept, recent attention has 
been driven by vast data sets (Big Data) necessary to 
feed neural networks, the core framework of AI that is 
modelled loosely on the network of neurons in the 
human brain, and cheap parallel computing. While the 
main applications today are still relatively simple tasks 
such as identifying faces in photos, AI is about trying to 

identify relationships from vast datasets. 
Breakthrough consumer applications such as 
Amazon’s Echo which delivers ‘voice as a computing 
interface’ demonstrate the early promise of artificial 
intelligence. Moreover, AI has broad applicability 
where large datasets are easily obtained and well 
defined. For example, within healthcare virtual 
screening (conducting millions of tests and simulations 
on compounds) is being adopted to reduce the time and 
cost of drug discovery, Goldman Sachs estimating that 
AI might deliver $26bn of annual savings to the 
pharmaceutical industry alone by 2025. Like cloud 
computing, AI appears to have the potential to both 
transcend and transform the technology landscape 
over the coming years. 
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MICHAEL MOULE   M N

Independent  
Non-executive Chairman 

Appointed to the Board in 2007 and 
elected Chairman in August 2011.  
He is also Chairman of the 
Management Engagement and 
Nomination Committees.  
Michael is not seeking re-election  
at the Annual General Meeting. 

Skills and experience
Michael was a Director of investment 
trusts at Henderson Global 
Investors. Prior to his retirement 
in 2003, he was the investment 
manager for The Bankers Investment 
Trust plc and Law Debenture 
Corporation plc.

Other Appointments
Michael is a Director of The European 
Investment Trust plc, a member  
of the investment committee of  
the British Heart Foundation and  
a member of the investment 
committee of The Open University.

BRIAN ASHFORD-RUSSELL
Non-executive Director 
 

Appointed to the Board in 1996. 

Skills and experience
Brian is a Director and founder 
of Polar Capital.Brian managed 
the Company from launch until 
30 April 2006. He was previously  
head of the technology team at 
Henderson Global Investors. 

Other Appointments
He is a Non-executive Director  
of Polar Capital Holdings plc.

Brian is connected to the investment 
manager and as such is not 
considered independent.

SARAH BATES    A NM R

Independent  
Non-executive Director 

Appointed to the Board in 2011, Sarah 
will become Chairman of the Board, 
and the Management Engagement 
and Nomination Committees at the 
conclusion of the Annual General 
Meeting on 7 September 2017.

Skills and experience
Sarah is a past Chairman of the 
Association of Investment Companies 
and has been involved in the UK 
savings and investment industry in 
different roles for over 30 years.

Other Appointments
Sarah is Non-executive Chairman  
of St. James’s Place plc and is a 
Director of Worldwide Health Trust 
plc. and JP Morgan American 
Investment Trust plc. She is a 
member of the USS Investment 
Committee as well as being a 
member of a number of other 
charitable investment committees.

Committee Membership up to 30 April 2017
A N

M R

Member of Audit Committee

Member of Management Engagement Committee

Member of Nomination Committee

Member of Remuneration Committee
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It was agreed that with effect from 1 May 2017 all the independent Directors will sit on each Board committee with the 
exception of the Chairman of the Board who attends but is not part of the Audit Committee.



CHARLOTTA GINMAN   A NM R

Independent  
Non-executive Director 

Appointed to the Board and to the 
chair of the Audit Committee in 2015.

Skills and experience
Charlotta qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant at Ernst & Young before 
spending a career in investment 
banking and commercial 
organisations, principally in 
technology related businesses.  
She held senior roles with  
JP Morgan, Deutsche Bank,  
UBS and the Nokia Corporation.

Other Appointments
Charlotta is a Non-executive Director 
and chairs the audit committees of 
Pacific Assets Trust plc, Motif Bio plc 
and is a Non-executive Director of 
Consort Medical plc and Unicorn AIM 
VCT plc. 

PETER HAMES   A NM R

Independent  
Non-executive Director 

Appointed to the Board in 2011  
and as Senior Independent Director 
from 2016. 

Skills and experience 
Peter spent 18 years of his investment 
career in Singapore, where in 1992  
he co-founded Aberdeen Asset 
Management’s Asian operation and  
as Director of Asian Equities he 
oversaw regional fund management 
teams responsible for running a 
number of top-rated and award 
winning funds. 

Other Appointments
He is a Director of MMIP Investment 
Management Limited, Syncona 
Limited and an independent member  
of the Operating Committee of 
Genesis Asset Managers LLP as  
well as serving on a number of 
Genesis fund boards.

TIM CRUTTENDEN   A NM R

Independent  
Non-executive Director 

Appointed to the Board in March 2017 
and a member of all the Board 
Committees from 1 May 2017. 

Skills and experience 
Tim is currently Chief Executive 
Officer of VenCap International plc 
having been with that company in 
various positions since 1994. VenCap 
invests in venture capital funds in the 
US, Asia and Europe, with a primary 
focus on early stage technology 
companies.

Other Appointments
None.

Directors Independence and Board Committees 
The Board considers that the Board is independent as all of the Directors with the exception of Mr Ashford-Russell are 
independent in character and there were no relationships or circumstances which were likely to affect or could appear 
to affect their judgement.
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BEN ROGOFF
Director, Technology
The portfolio is managed by Ben.  
He has been a technology specialist 
for 20 years having begun his career 
in fund management at CMI, as a 
global technology analyst. He moved 
to Aberdeen Fund Managers in 1998 
where he spent four years as a senior 
technology manager prior to joining 
Polar Capital in May 2003. He is also 
joint manager of Polar Capital Global 
Technology Fund. Ben graduated 
from St Catherine’s College, Oxford 
with a degree in Modern History 
in 1995.

NICK EVANS
Senior Fund Manager
Nick joined Polar Capital in 
September 2007 and has 19 years’ 
experience as a technology specialist. 
He has been lead manager of the 
Polar Capital Global Technology Fund 
since January 2008. Prior to joining 
Polar he was Head of Technology at 
AXA Framlington. He also spent three 
years as a Pan European investment 
manager and Technology Analyst at 
Hill Samuel Asset Management. Nick 
graduated from Hull University with a 
degree in Economics.

FATIMA IU
Fund Manager
Fatima joined Polar Capital in April 
2007 after working as an analyst with 
Citigroup Asset Management for 
18 months. She focuses on European 
technology, global medical 
technology, cybersecurity and 
networking sub-sectors. Fatima 
graduated from Imperial College 
London in 2002 with a degree in 
Chemistry with Medicinal Chemistry.
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XUESONG ZHAO
Fund Manager
Xuesong joined Polar Capital in May 
2012, having spent most of the 
previous four years working as an 
investment analyst within the 
Emerging Markets & Asia team at 
Aviva Investors, where he was 
responsible for the Technology, Media 
and Telecom sectors. Prior to that, he 
worked as a quantitative analyst and 
risk manager at Pictet Asset 
Management. He started his career 
as a Financial Engineer at 
Algorithmics, an IBM company, in 
2005. He holds an MSc in Finance 
from Imperial College Science  
& Technology and a BA in Economics 
from Peking University.

PAUL JOHNSON
Investment Analyst
Paul joined Polar Capital in March 
2012 as an Investment Analyst on  
the Polar Capital Technology team. 
Prior to joining Polar Capital, Paul 
helped manage a private investment 
fund between 2010 and 2012. Paul 
holds a BA in History and Politics 
and a Masters in History from 
Keele University.

BRADLEY REYNOLDS 
Investment Analyst 
Brad joined Polar Capital in October 
2011 as an Analyst and Trader 
working as part of the European 
Market Neutral team with a focus  
on media and internet. In 2014, he 
joined the Technology team as an 
Investment Analyst. Prior to joining 
Polar Capital, Brad worked at Ratio 
Asset Management as an analyst and 
trader, and from 2007 to 2011 he 
worked at F&C as a hedge fund 
analyst. Brad started his career in 
2001 at Gartmore Investment 
Management working within the 
hedge fund team. Brad graduated 
from the University of Hertfordshire 
with a degree in Business Studies.
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The Directors present their Directors’ Report including 
the Report on Corporate Governance together with the 
Audited Financial Statements for the Company prepared 
under International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union (‘IFRS’) for the year ended 
30 April 2017.

INTRODUCTION AND STATUS
The Company is incorporated in England and Wales as  
a public limited company and domiciled in the United 
Kingdom. It is an investment company as defined in Section 
833 of the Companies Act 2006 and its ordinary shares are 
listed and traded on the London Stock Exchange.

The ‘close company’ provisions do not apply.

The Company seeks to operate as an investment trust in 
accordance with sections 1158 and 1159 of the Corporation 
Taxes Act 2010 (as amended by section 42(2) of the Finance 
Act 2011). This qualification permits the accumulation of 
capital gains within the portfolio without liability to UK 
Capital Gains Tax. The Company has received confirmation 
from HM Revenue & Customs that on the basis of the 
information supplied, the Company is an approved 
investment trust. The Directors, under advice, expect the 
affairs of the Company to continue to satisfy the conditions.

The Company has registered as a Foreign Financial 
Institution with the US IRS and been allocated a Global 
Intermediary Identification Number (GIIN) of J29SBF-
99999-SL-826. The Company has also been allocated the 
Legal Entity Identifier of 549300TN1O5392UC4K19. 

The Company is an investment trust and as such its 
ordinary shares are excluded from the FCA’s restrictions 
which apply to non-mainstream investment products. The 
Company conducts its affairs and intends to do so for the 
foreseeable future so that the exclusion continues to apply.

The attention of Shareholders is drawn to the Strategic 
Report Section (Chairman’s Statement, the Manager’s 
Report and the Strategic Report) which provide further 
commentary on the activities and outlook for the 
Company, including future developments and dividends.

DIRECTORS
The current Directors of the Company are listed on pages 
50 and 51. All the Directors held office throughout the year 
under review with the exception of Tim Cruttenden who was 
appointed on 23 March 2017 and Rupert Montagu who 
retired as a Director at the AGM in September 2016. Tim 
Cruttenden will seek election at the AGM on 7 September 
2017 in accordance with the Articles of Association. 

All the other Directors are also retiring and standing for 
re-election at the AGM with the exception of Michael Moule 
who is retiring. The fees paid to the Directors are set out in 
the Remuneration Report.

LISTING RULE 9.8.4
Listing Rule 9.8.4 requires the Company to include certain 
information in a single identifiable section of the Annual 
Report or a cross reference table indicating where the 
information is set out. The Directors confirm there are no 
disclosures to be made pursuant to this rule other than the 
waiver of Director’s fees by Brian Ashford-Russell in respect 
of the financial year ended 30 April 2017 and his intention to 
waive his fees for the financial year to 30 April 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Report on Corporate Governance on pages 57 to 64 
form part of this Directors’ Report.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Issued
The Company’s share capital is divided into ordinary 
shares of 25p each. At the year end there were 
132,487,000 ordinary shares in issue (2016: 132,336,159 
ordinary shares). At the date of this report there were 
132,762,000 ordinary shares in issue.

Changes during the year
150,841 ordinary shares issued in the year ended 30 April 
2017. Since the year end a further 225,000 shares have 
been issued. No shares have been purchased for 
cancellation or to be held in treasury.

Voting rights
Ordinary shares carry voting rights which are exercised 
on a show of hands at a meeting, or on a poll, where each 
share has one vote. Details for the lodging of proxy votes 
are given when a notice of meeting is given.

Transferability
Any shares in the Company may be held in uncertificated 
form and, subject to the Articles, title to uncertificated 
shares may be transferred by means of a relevant system.

Subject to the Articles, any member may transfer all or 
any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer 
in any usual form or in any other form which the Board 
may approve. The instrument of transfer must be 
executed by or on behalf of the transferor and (in the  
case of a partly-paid share) the transferee.
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The Board may, in its absolute discretion and without giving 
any reason, decline to register any transfer of any share 
which is not a fully paid share. The Board may also decline  
to register a transfer of a certificated share unless the 
instrument of transfer: (i) is duly stamped or certified or 
otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Board to be 
exempt from stamp duty and is accompanied by the relevant 
share certificate and such other evidence of the right to 
transfer as the Board may reasonably require; (ii) is in 
respect of only one class of share; and (iii) if joint transferees, 
are in favour of not more than four such transferees.

The Board may decline to register a transfer of any of the 
Company’s certificated shares by a person with a 0.25% 
interest (as defined in the Articles) if such a person has 
been served with a restriction notice (as defined in the 
Articles) after failure to provide the Company with 
information concerning interests in those shares required 
to be provided under the Companies Act 2006, unless the 
transfer is shown to the Board to be pursuant to an arm’s 
length sale (as defined in the Articles).

The Company is not aware of arrangements to restrict  
the votes or transferability of its shares.

Powers to issue ordinary shares and make 
market purchases of ordinary shares
The Board was granted by Shareholders at the AGM in 
2016 the power to allot equity securities up to a nominal 
value of £3,308,403 and to issue those shares for cash 
without offering those shares to Shareholders in 
accordance with their statutory pre-emption rights. These 
powers will expire at the AGM in 2017 and renewal of  
the authorities will be sought at the AGM in 2017. New 
ordinary shares will not be allotted and issued at below 
Net Asset Value. 

The Board also obtained Shareholder authority at the AGM 
in 2016 to make market purchases of up to 19,837,190 
ordinary shares of the Company for cancellation in 
accordance with the terms and conditions set out in the 
resolution. This authority expires at the AGM in 2017 and 
renewal of the authority to make market purchases of 
ordinary shares will be sought at the AGM in 2017.

The level of the ordinary share price discount or premium  
to the Net Asset Value together with internal guidelines for 
the repurchase or issuance of new ordinary shares are kept 
under regular review by the Board. The Board considers that 
discount volatility is unattractive to Shareholders but as a 
specialist investment fund market sentiment can create 
sustained discount pressure. With this in mind the Board  
has a pragmatic approach to share buy backs.

Major interests in ordinary shares
Declarations of interests in the voting rights of the Company at 30 April 2017 are set out below.

Number of  
ordinary shares

Percentage of  
voting rights*

Rathbone Brothers plc 10,653,445 8.02% (indirect)

Brewin Dolphin Limited 9,946,829 7.49% (indirect)

Old Mutual plc 7,811,334 5.88% (direct)

Investec Wealth and Investment Limited 6,712,073 5.06% (indirect)

* �The above percentages are calculated by applying the shareholdings as notified to the issued ordinary share capital at 
18 July 2017 of 132,762,000 ordinary shares.
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LIFE OF THE COMPANY
The Articles of Association of the Company provide that  
a vote on whether the Company should continue will be 
proposed as an ordinary resolution at every fifth Annual 
General Meeting of the Company.

Such a resolution was proposed at the AGM on 
9 September 2015 and passed with 99.9% of the votes  
cast in favour of continuing for a further five years.  
The next continuation vote will be proposed at the  
Annual General Meeting in 2020.

2017 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting will be held on 7 September 
2017 at 2.30pm at Trinity House, Tower Hill, London EC3N 
4DH. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM as it 
provides an opportunity for them to hear a presentation 
from the Investment Manager and meet the Directors and 
Investment team members.

The separate Notice of Meeting contains the usual 
resolutions to receive the Financial Statements, approve 
the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and the 
Implementation Report, re-elect retiring Directors, 
appoint the Auditors and empower the Directors to set 
their fees. As in previous years the Directors are also 
seeking powers to allot shares for cash and to buy back 
shares for cancellation or to be held in treasury. The full 
text of the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM and an 
explanation of each resolution are contained in the 
separate Notice of Meeting.

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS
The Company is an investment trust, with neither 
employees nor premises, nor has it any financial or 
operational control over the assets which it owns, 
Consequently, it has no GHG emissions to report from  
its operations nor does it have responsibility for any  
other emissions.

By order of the Board 

Neil Taylor
Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited 
Company Secretary

18 July 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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The UK Listing Rules require all listed companies to 
disclose how they have applied the principles and complied 
with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
(the ‘UK Code’) issued by the Financial Reporting Council 
(the ‘FRC’). The UK Code can be viewed at www.frc.org.uk

The Association of Investment Companies (‘AIC’) published 
in February 2015 a Code of Corporate Governance (‘AIC 
Code’) and a Corporate Governance Guide for Investment 
Companies (‘AIC Guide’) applying to accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 October 2014.

The FRC has confirmed that by following the AIC Code 
and the AIC Guide, boards of investment companies will 
meet their obligations in relation to the UK Code and 
paragraph 9.8.6 of the UK Listing Rules.

The AIC Code and AIC Guide address the principles  
set out in the UK Code as well as additional principles  
and recommendations on issues that are specific to 
investment trusts. The AIC Code and Guide can be  
viewed at www.theaic.co.uk

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The Board has considered the principles and 
recommendations of the AIC Code by reference to the  
AIC Guide. The AIC Code, as explained by the AIC Guide, 
addresses all the principles set out in the UK Code,  
as well as setting out additional principles and 
recommendations on issues that are of specific  
relevance to the Company.

The Board considers that reporting against the principles 
and recommendations of the AIC Code, by reference to the 
AIC Guide (which incorporates the UK Code), will provide 
better information for Shareholders.

The Board considers for the year under review that the 
Directors, Board and Company have complied with the 
recommendations of the AIC Code and the relevant 
provisions of the UK Code except as noted below:

•	 as all Directors are Non-executive and day-to-day 
management has been contracted to third parties the 
Company does not have a separate role for a Chief 
Executive from that of Chairman of the Board;

•	 as there are no executive Directors or employees it 
does not comply with the UK Code in respect of 
executive Directors’ remuneration; and

•	 the Company does not have an internal audit function 
as it relies on the systems of control operated by third 
party suppliers in particular those of the Investment 
Manager. The Board monitors these systems of 
internal control to provide assurance that they  
operate as intended.

For the reasons set out in the AIC Guide, as explained in 
the UK Code, the Board considers these provisions are not 
relevant to the Company, being an externally managed 
investment company. In particular, all of the Company’s 
day-to-day management and administrative functions are 
outsourced to third parties.

The report on corporate governance describes how  
the principles of the AIC Code have been applied. The 
Board will continue to observe the principles and 
recommendations set out in the AIC Code in future.

Directors and Board
Independence and composition
The Board is responsible to Shareholders for the overall 
management of the Company’s affairs and currently 
consists of six Non-executive Directors.

All the Directors, with the exception of Brian Ashford-
Russell, were considered independent of the Investment 
Manager and had no relationship or conflicts which were 
likely to affect their independent judgment. Consequently 
the majority of the Board is independent of the Investment 
Manager and the Board considers that its overall 
composition is adequate for the effective governance 
of the Company.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the 
Board and ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its 
role. The Chairman works with the Company Secretary for 
setting the Board’s agenda and for balancing the issues 
presented to each meeting. Open and frank debate is 
encouraged at each Board meeting and the Chairman 
keeps in touch with the Company Secretary and other 
Directors between Board meetings.

The Chairman was independent on his appointment  
as Chairman and continued to meet the criteria for 
independence.

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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Each Director has different qualities and areas of 
expertise on which they may lead where issues arise. The 
current Directors are listed on pages 50 and 51 along with 
their biographical details which demonstrate the breadth 
of investment, commercial and professional experience 
relevant to their positions as Directors of  
the Company.

The Directors have access to the advice and services of 
the corporate company secretary through its appointed 
representative who is responsible to the Board for 
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that 
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The 
Board and Investment Manager operate in a supportive, 
co-operative and open environment.

Succession planning and diversity
While the Board recognises the value of progressive 
refreshing of and succession planning for company 
boards, it is conscious of the need to maintain continuity 
and believes that retaining Directors with sufficient 
experience of the Company, industry and markets is of 
great benefit to Shareholders. The Board is of the opinion 
that long service does not necessarily compromise the 
independence or contribution of Directors of Investment 
Trusts where continuity and experience can significantly 
benefit a Board, a view supported by the AIC.

The Board’s policy on diversity, including gender, is to 
have regard to the benefits of having a Board of Directors 
which encompasses a balance of skills and experience 
which is maintained and regularly refreshed.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the 
composition of the Board and it considers not only the 
existing Board but also if further appointments should be 
made. The Nomination Committee seeks to balance the 
time required, the skills, knowledge and experience of 
individual Directors to form an effective and efficient Board.

When considering new appointments the Nomination 
Committee seeks to have a list of candidates for the 
whole Board to consider that will enhance the Board or 
replace and refresh skills lost through a Director leaving 
the Board. As such the Board, while it has not set 
specific targets, will have regard to the benefits of 
diversity on the Board, including gender, when further 
appointments are considered.

The work of the Nomination Committee is described on 
page 61.

Election and retirement of Directors at the AGM
•	 The Articles of Association (the ‘Articles’) govern the 

appointment, re-election and removal of a Director.

•	 The Articles permit the Board to appoint further 
Directors without Shareholder approval but subject to 
any such Directors standing for election by 
Shareholders at the first AGM following their 
appointment.

•	 All Directors are appointed for an initial term of three 
years and are subject to re-election by Shareholders at 
a general meeting in accordance with the Articles.

•	 The Articles and the Companies Act provide for the 
removal of a Director.

•	 The Articles also state that any Director who has 
served for over nine years should stand for annual 
re-election.

Any Director who has served over nine years and stands 
for re-election due to length of service is carefully and 
rigorously assessed by the Nomination Committee to 
ensure that the Director continues to make a valuable 
contribution to the Board and remains independent in 
character and judgement.

Notwithstanding the provisos of the Articles, the UK Code 
requires all Directors of FTSE350 companies to retire 
annually. Therefore all the Directors who were elected at 
last year’s AGM will retire at the forthcoming AGM and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election with the 
exception of Michael Moule who is retiring.

The Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination 
Committee, supports each of the Directors standing for 
re-election.

Directors’ interests
Brian Ashford-Russell is a partner of Polar Capital LLP 
and a Non-executive Director and Shareholder in Polar 
Capital Holdings plc, the ultimate holding company of 
Polar Capital LLP and as such he has an interest in the 
investment management contract. He is therefore not 
considered to be an independent Director. However, the 
Board values the fact that Brian Ashford-Russell, 
although no longer actively involved in the day to day 
management of the portfolio, serves as a Director of the 
Company and gives the Directors and Shareholders the 
benefit of his experience and knowledge.

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
CONTINUED
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No Director, except Brian Ashford-Russell, has any links 
with the Investment Manager, Polar Capital LLP. There 
were no other contracts during or at the end of the year  
in which a Director of the Company is or was materially 
interested and which is or was significant in relation to  
the Company’s business.

The Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the 
Company are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Conflicts of interests
Directors have a duty to avoid a situation in which they 
have or could have a conflict of interest or possible 
conflict with the interests of the Company. The Company’s 
Articles contain provisions to permit the Board to 
authorise conflicts or potential conflicts.

The Board has always had in place policies to govern 
situations where a potential conflict of interests may 
arise, in particular where a Director is also a Director  
of a company in which the Company invests or may invest. 
Where such a situation arises, these Directors are 
excluded from any discussions or decisions relating  
to investments in their respective companies.

Each Director has provided the Company with a statement 
of all conflicts of interest and potential conflicts of 
interest. These have been approved by the Board and 
recorded in a register. The Board may impose conditions 
on authorising any conflict or potential conflict situations. 
Directors are reminded at each Board meeting of their 
obligations to notify any changes to their circumstances 
which would impact on the notified conflicts or potential 
conflicts and obtain approval before entering into any 
situation which might give rise to a conflict or potential 
conflict with the interests of the Company.

No Director has declared receipt of any benefits other 
than his emoluments and associated expenses in his 
capacity as a Director of the Company.

Only Directors not involved in the conflict or potential 
conflict participate in the authorisation process. Directors 
in deciding whether to authorise a situation take into 
account their duty to promote the Company’s success.

The Board reviews annually the register of conflicts,  
any conditions imposed on such conflicts or potential 
conflicts and the operation of the notification and 
authorisation process. They conducted the annual review 
as part of the processes for preparing the Annual Report 
and concluded that the process has operated effectively 
since its introduction.

Except as disclosed above in relation to Brian Ashford-
Russell’s interest in the contract with Polar Capital LLP, 
there were no contracts subsisting during or at the end of 
the year in which a Director is or was interested and which 
is or was significant in relation to the Company’s business 
or to the Director.

Directors’ professional development
When a new Director is appointed he or she is offered an 
induction course provided by the Investment Manager. 
Directors are welcome to visit the Investment Manager at 
any time to receive an update on any aspect of particular 
interest or a general refresher on the operations of the 
Investment Manager. Directors are also provided on a 
regular basis with key information on the Company’s 
policies, regulatory and statutory obligations and internal 
controls. Changes affecting Directors’ responsibilities are 
advised to the Board as they arise. Directors also regularly 
participate in professional and industry seminars and may 
use the online training modules of the Investment Manager 
to ensure they maintain their knowledge.

The Board’s Role and Responsibilities
The Board meets regularly and six scheduled Board 
meetings were held to deal with the stewardship of the 
Company and other matters. There is a formal schedule  
of matters specifically reserved for decision by the  
full Board.

During the course of the year the Board has considered 
the setting and monitoring of investment strategy and 
guidelines, portfolio performance, the preparation and 
review of Financial Statements, approval of borrowing 
limits within which the Investment Manager has discretion 
to act, and Shareholder issues including communications 
and investor relations. The level of share price discount or 
premium to Net Asset Value together with policies for 
re-purchase or issuance of new shares including the use 
of treasury shares are kept under review along with 
matters affecting the industry and the evaluation of  
third party service providers.
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1 May 2016 to 30 April 2017

Board & Strategy Audit
Management 
Engagement Nomination Remuneration1 2016 AGM

Number of Meetings in the 
year under review 6 3 1 2 1 1

Michael Moule2 6/6 3/3 1/1 2/2 – 1/1

Brian Ashford-Russell 6/6 – – – – 1/1

Sarah Bates 6/6 3/3 1/1 2/2 1/1 1/1

Tim Cruttenden3 1/1 – – – – –

Charlotta Ginman 6/6 3/3 1/1 2/2 – 1/1

Peter Hames 6/6 3/3 1/1 2/2 1/1 1/1

Rupert Montagu4 2/3 2/2 1/1 1/2 1/1 0/1

Notes

1 �The remuneration Committee comprised of three independent Directors during the year under review. With effect from 1 May 2017 all the independent Directors constituted 
the committee.

2 Michael Moule attends the Audit Committee by invitation.

3 Tim Cruttenden was appointed on 23 March 2017. 

4 Rupert Montagu was a Director until his retirement at the conclusion of the AGM on 9 September 2016.

A number of ad hoc special purpose Board and Committee meetings were held during the year for the approval of 
documents and approval of regulatory announcements all of which had been previously considered by the full Board.

Senior Independent Director (SID)
Mr Hames became the SID from the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting on 9 September 2016. The SID can be 
contacted via the Registered Office of the Company.

The Board has also spent considerable time over the year 
considering and reviewing regulatory changes that have 
impacted the Company.

A strategy Board meeting is held each year where 
investment ideas are discussed.

Through this process the Board supervises the 
management of the investment portfolio, the work of the 
Investment Manager, the risks to which the Company is 
exposed and their mitigation, and the quality of services 
received by the Company.

If additional meetings of the Board are required these  
are arranged as required.

The Board has delegated to a number of standing 
committees specific remits for consideration and 
recommendation but the final responsibility in these 
areas remains with the Board.

Should it be necessary, a procedure has been adopted  
for Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to take 
independent professional advice at the expense of the 
Company. No such advice has been sought during the  
past year.

The number of formal meetings of the Board and its 
Committees held during the financial year and the 
attendance of individual Directors are shown below.
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Board Committees
The Board has created four standing committees whose 
terms of reference are available on the Company’s 
website. The Board also creates ad hoc committees from 
time to time to enact or approve policies or actions agreed 
in principle by the whole Board. The Chairman of each 
committee attends the AGM to deal with questions 
relating to the Financial Statements.

The report of the Audit Committee is set out on pages 65 
to 68. The Remuneration Committee Report is on pages 
69 to 72 and the reports of the Nomination and 
Management Engagement Committees are set out below. 

REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Michael Moule, as Chairman of the Board, chairs the 
Nomination Committee and all the independent Non-
executive Directors are members. The Committee meets 
at least annually and is responsible to the Board for the 
size and structure of the Board as well as for succession 
planning and the tenure policy for Directors.

MEETINGS AND WORK UNDERTAKEN
During the financial year ended 30 April 2017 the 
Committee met twice and considered the following 
matters:

•	 Succession planning for the position of Chairman  
of the Board. The Chairman did not participate in any 
discussion or decision on his role or 
replacement. Appointment of a new Director to fill the 
skill set lost  
by the retirement of Rupert Montagu. This covered: 

–– Agreement on specification and method of 
recruitment of a new Director using the Board’s 
views on diversity and to achieve a balance of skills, 
knowledge and experience on the Board.

–– Appointment of external agency (Nurole) to 
advertise the position.

–– Carry out the selection process and interviews 
before making a final recommendation to the Board.

•	 Review the performance of the Board as a whole and 
each individual Director. This covered:

–– Recommending the re‑election of each Director 
based on the evaluation. The Committee 
acknowledges the rationale of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code for the rigorous review of 
Directors serving over six years and annual 
re‑appointment after nine years. Nevertheless the 
Committee shares the view of the AIC that length of 
service will not necessarily compromise the 
independence or contribution of Directors of 
investment trusts where continuity and experience 
can significantly strengthen a Board.

–– The Committee followed the recommended practice 
of having an externally facilitated review every three 
years and in 2016 appointed Lintstock to provide 
this. The finding and recommendations of the review 
were considered and shared with the Board. The 
Committee considered the findings of the report and 
in particular has noted that a generally favourable 
report was received but there were a number of 
minor improvements in some administrative 
aspects that could be improved.

–– The Committee confirmed that the evaluation of the 
Board, its Committees and individual Directors for 
2017 and 2018 should be carried by the Chairman of 
the Nomination Committee. In the years when the 
internal system is used The Chairman uses a system 
that seeks the views of each Director by a 
questionnaire and interviews. The Chairman’s review 
is conducted by the Senior Independent Director. 

REPORT OF THE MANAGEMENT  
ENGAGEMENT COMMITTEE
The Management Engagement Committee is chaired by 
the Chairman of the Board, Michael Moule, and comprises 
of all the independent Non-executive Directors.
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MEETINGS AND WORK UNDERTAKEN
During the financial year ended 30 April 2017 the 
Committee met once and considered the following matters:

•	 The relationship with the Investment Manager, 
including the annual review of the services provided  
by the Investment Manager prior to making its 
recommendation to the Board, on the retention  
of the Investment Manager being in the interests  
of Shareholders. 

•	 The terms of the investment management agreement 
and its appointment as AIFM. 

Performance Evaluation Process
Investment Manager
The Board has contractually delegated the management 
of the portfolio to the Investment Manager. It is the 
Investment Manager’s sole responsibility to take 
decisions as to the purchase and sale of individual 
investments other than unquoted investments where  
the Board is consulted. The Investment Manager has 
responsibility for tactical gearing, asset allocation and 
sector selection within the guidelines established and 
regularly reviewed by the Board.

The Investment Manager is responsible for providing or 
procuring accountancy services, company secretarial and 
administrative services. The Investment Manager also 
ensures that all Directors receive in a timely manner  
all relevant management, regulatory and financial 
information. Representatives of the Investment Manager 
attend Board meetings enabling the Directors to probe 
further on matters of concern or seek clarification on 
certain issues.

The whole Board reviews the performance of the 
Investment Manager at each Board meeting and the 
Company’s performance against the market and a peer 
group of funds with similar investment objectives. The 
investment team provided by the Investment Manager,  
led by Ben Rogoff, has long experience of investment in 
technology. In addition, the Investment Manager has other 
investment resources which support the investment team 
and experience in managing and administering other 
investment trust companies.

Other key suppliers to the Company
The Board also monitors directly or through the 
Investment Manager the performance of its other  
key service providers.

•	 The Board directly appointed HSBC Bank Plc as 
Depositary. The Depositary reports quarterly and 
makes an annual presentation to the Board. 

•	 The share registrars are directly appointed by the 
Board and their performance is monitored by the 
Company Secretary.

•	 Other suppliers such as corporate brokers, printers, 
website services and PR agents are monitored by the 
Company Secretary.

Accountability and Audit
The Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of 
the Financial Statements is set out on pages 73 and 74 
and the Independent Auditors’ Report is on pages 75 to 79.

Internal Controls 
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s 
system of internal control, for reviewing its effectiveness 
and ensuring that risk management and control process 
are embedded in the day to day operations which are 
operated or overseen by the Investment Manager.

The Board through the Audit Committee has established 
 a process for identifying, evaluating, monitoring and 
reviewing, and managing any principle risks faced by the 
Company. This is documented through the use of a Risk 
Map which is subject to regular review by the Audit 
Committee and accords with the Guidance on Risk 
Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and 
Business Reporting issued in September 2014 by the 
Financial Reporting Council. As the Company has no 
employees and its operational functions are carried out 
by third parties, the Audit Committee does not consider  
it necessary for the Company to establish its own  
internal audit function.

Contracts with suppliers are entered into after full 
and proper consideration by the Board of the quality 
and cost of the services offered, including the control 
systems in operation in so far as they relate to the affairs 
of the Company.
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The Investment Manager has an internal control 
framework to provide reasonable but not absolute 
assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls 
operated on behalf of its clients. The Investment Manager 
is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct 
Authority and its compliance department monitors 
compliance with the FCA rules.

The Audit Committee reviews and reports to the Board on 
the operation of the controls which are embedded within 
the business of the Investment Manager and other third 
party suppliers. Controls and risk management covering 
the risks identified, including financial, operational, 
compliance, safeguarding of assets, maintenance of 
proper accounting records and the publication of reliable 
financial information are monitored by a series of regular 
reports from the Investment Manager including risks not 
directly the responsibility of the Investment Manager.

Operation
The process was active throughout the year and up to the 
date of approval of this Annual Report. However, such a 
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate risks 
of failure to achieve the Company’s business objectives 
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board in assessing the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal controls has through the Audit 
Committee received formal reports on the policies and 
procedures in operation and tests, with details of any 
known internal control failures from the Investment 
Manager for its financial year ended 31 March 2017.  
The Investment Manager has subsequently provided 
confirmation that there has been no material change 
to the control environment to the signing of these 
Financial Statements.

The Board also considers reports operated by other third 
party suppliers and ad hoc reports from the Investment 
Manager are supplied to the Board as required.

The Investment Manager has delegated the provision of 
accounting, portfolio valuation and trade processing to 
HSBC Securities Services but remains responsible to the 
Company for these functions and provides the Board with 
information on these services.

Based on the work of the Audit Committee and the 
reviews of the reports received by the Audit Committee on 
behalf of the Board, the Board has concluded that there 
were no material control failures during the year and up 
to the date of this report.

Relations with Shareholders
The Board and the Investment Manager consider 
maintaining good communications with Shareholders and 
engaging with larger Shareholders through meetings and 
presentations a key priority.

The Board regularly considers the share register of the 
Company and receives regular reports from the 
Investment Manager and the corporate broker on 
meetings attended with Shareholders and any concerns 
that are raised in such meetings. The Board also reviews 
correspondence from Shareholders and maintains 
regular contact with major Shareholders.

The Chairman each year contacts the largest 
Shareholders to enable them to raise any concerns direct 
with the Board without using the Investment Manager or 
Company Secretary as a conduit. The Chairman or other 
Directors are available to Shareholders who wish to raise 
matters either in person or in writing. The Chairman and 
Directors may be contacted through the registered office 
of the Company.

Shareholders are kept informed by the publication of 
annual and interim reports which include Financial 
Statements. These reports are supplemented by the daily 
release of the net asset value per share to the London 
Stock Exchange and the publication by the Investment 
Manager of a monthly factsheet. All this information 
together with the Investment Manager’s presentations  
is available from the Company’s website at  
www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk

The Board is also keen that the AGM be a participative 
event for all Shareholders who attend. The portfolio 
manager makes a presentation and Shareholders are 
encouraged to attend. The Chairmen of the Board and  
of the Committees attend the AGM and are available to 
respond to queries and concerns from Shareholders.  
The Directors make themselves available after the  
AGM to meet Shareholders.
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Where the vote is decided on a show of hands, the  
proxy votes received are relayed to the meeting and 
subsequently published on the Company’s website.  
Proxy forms have a ‘vote withheld’ option. 

The Notice of Meeting sets out the business of the AGM 
together with the full text of any special resolutions. 

The Board will engage with Shareholders on any matters 
where significant dissent is shown at the AGM and 
following the AGM acknowledge such dissent in its 
announcement of the results of the AGM and disclose  
in the next Annual Report steps it has taken or will take  
to resolve the issue.

The Company has made arrangements for investors 
through the Alliance Savings Scheme to receive all 
Company communications and have the ability to direct 
the casting of their votes. The Company has also made 
arrangements with its registrar for Shareholders, who 
own their shares direct rather than through a nominee or 
share scheme, to view their account over the Internet at 
www.shareview.co.uk. Other services are also available 
via this service.

By order of the Board 

Neil Taylor
Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited 
Company Secretary

18 July 2017
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Charlotta Ginman, is Chairman of the Audit Committee 
which comprises all the independent Non-executive 
Directors with the exception of the Chairman of the Board 
who attends as an observer by invitation. The Board is 
satisfied that at least one member of the Committee has 
recent and relevant financial experience and the Audit 
Committee as a whole has competence relevant to the 
sector in which the Company operates. The experience  
of the members of the Committee can be assessed from 
the Director’s biographies set out on pages 50 and 51. 

 The Committee has written terms of reference which 
clearly define its responsibilities and duties. None of the 
members of the Audit Committee has any involvement in the 
preparation of the Financial Statements of the Company, as 
this has been contracted to the Investment Manager.

MEETINGS AND WORK UNDERTAKEN
During the financial year ended 30 April 2017 the 
Committee met three times with all members attending 
each meeting, and considered the following matters:

•	 the scope of the annual audit and agreement with  
the external Auditors of the key areas of focus;

•	 the reports from the external Auditors concerning  
their audit of the annual Financial Statements of 
the Company;

•	 the performance of the external Auditors and the  
level of fees charged for their services;

•	 the appropriateness and any changes to the accounting 
policies of the Company including any judgements 
required by such policies and the reasonableness  
of such;

•	 the financial disclosures contained in the Annual  
Report and half year Report to Shareholders;

•	 the policy for non-audit services which may be 
provided by the Auditors in line with the FRC guidance;

•	 the extent of the non-audit services, the quality of  
such work and the fees;

•	 the independence and objectivity of the external 
Auditors;

•	 the selection of replacement Auditors following  
the tendering process;

•	 the Risk Map covering the identification of new risks, 
adjustments to existing risks and the mitigation and 
controls in place to manage the principle risks;

•	 the consideration of reports from the Investment 
Manager and Auditors on the effectiveness of the 
system of internal financial controls including the  
Risk Map; and

•	 the going concern statement, longer-term viability 
statement and the requirement that the Annual Report 
and Financial Statements when taken as a whole are 
fair, balanced and understandable.

Members of the Investment Manager’s Compliance and 
Operations Departments attend as and when requested  
as do the Auditors.

EFFICACY OF AUDIT PROCESS
The Audit Committee monitored and evaluated the 
effectiveness of the Auditors and any changes in the 
terms of their appointment based on an assessment of 
their performance, qualification, knowledge, expertise 
and resources. The Auditors’ independence was also 
considered along with other factors such as audit 
planning and interpretations of accounting standards. 
This evaluation has been carried out throughout the year 
by meetings held with the Auditors, by review of the audit 
process and by comments from the Investment Manager 
and others involved in the audit process.

The Auditors were provided with an opportunity to 
address the Committee without the Investment Manager 
present to raise any concerns or discuss any matters 
relating to the audit work and the cooperation of the 
Investment Manager and others in providing any 
information and the quality of that information including 
the timeliness in responding to audit requests.

As part of the year end audit the Committee considered 
the level of fees paid to the Auditors bearing in mind  
the nature of the audit and the quality of services 
previously received.

CONSIDERATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT 
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The Committee performed this role through monitoring 
the integrity of the Financial Statements of the Company 
and the system of accounting to ensure compliance with 
relevant and appropriate accounting standards. 

The scope of the audit was agreed in advance with a focus 
on areas of audit risk and the appropriate level of audit 
materiality. The Auditors reported on the results of the 
audit work to the Committee and highlighted any issue 
which the audit work had discovered or the Committee 
had previously identified as significant or material in the 
context of the Financial Statements.
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CONCLUSIONS IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL 
REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The production and the audit of the Company’s Annual 
Report and Financial Statements is a comprehensive 
process requiring input from a number of different 
contributors. In order to reach a conclusion that the 
Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable,  
the Board has requested that the Committee advise on 
whether it considers these criteria satisfied. In so doing 
the Committee has given consideration to the following:

•	 the comprehensive control framework around the 
production of the Annual Report, including the 
verification processes in place to deal with the  
factual content;

•	 extensive levels of review are undertaken in the 
production process, by the Investment Manager  
and the Committee; and

•	 the internal control environment as operated by the 
Investment Manager and other suppliers including  
any checks and balances within those systems.

As a result of the work performed, the Committee has 
concluded that the Annual Report for the year ended  
30 April 2017, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary 
for Shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, 
business model and strategy, and it has reported on these 
findings to the Board.

CONSIDERATION OF THE SEMI-ANNUAL 
REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Committee considered and reviewed the half year 
Report and Financial Statements which are not audited  
or reviewed by the external Auditors to ensure that they 
reflected the accounting policies used in the annual 
Financial Statements.

NON-AUDIT WORK
The Audit Committee’s policy on the provision of non-
audit services by the Auditors is to ensure that there is a 
clear separation of audit work and non-audit work and 
that the cost of any non-audit work is justified and is not 
disproportionate to the audit fees to the extent that the 
independence of the Auditors would be compromised. 

The Audit Committee has reviewed the work carried out  
by the Auditors outside their annual audit of the Financial 
Statements to ensure that none of these services would  
put the Auditors in the position of auditing their own work 
or threaten their independence. 

The Committee considered the non-audit services for the 
year ended 30 April 2017.  

•	 During the year under review PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP (PwC) had provided services as tax agents in 
Taiwan and for of IXBRL tagging of the Company’s 
accounts for submission to HR Revenue and Customs.  
These services were part of a group arrangement that 
Polar Capital LLP had in place for all its clients. Polar 
Capital LLP is in the process of moving these services 
to different firms during 2017. 

SIGNIFICANT MATTERS IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR  
ENDED 30 APRIL 2017
In addition to the matters considered by the Committee in forming its opinions on Going Concern and longer-term 
viability described below and in concluding that the Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable, the Committee 
also considered the following matters in relation to the Financial Statements:

Significant matter How the issue was addressed 

Valuation, existence and ownership  
of investments

The valuation is carried out in accordance with the accounting policy described 
in Note 2. The Depository has reported on its work and safe keeping of the 
company’s investments.

Compliance with S1158 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010 

Consideration of compliance with the requirements of investment trust status  
is carried out at each Board meeting throughout the year.

There were no adverse matters brought to the Audit Committee’s attention in respect of the 2017 audit, which were 
material or significant or which should be brought to Shareholders’ attention.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED
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•	 The Committee also noted that the Company had 
previously agreed a fee with PwC which was leading  
a class action for the recovery of VAT.  Post the year 
end this arrangement had been concluded and the 
Company had withdrawn its claim following the 
judgement handed down by the Supreme Court in 2017. 

•	 PwC had historically lodged certain claims on behalf of 
the Company for the recovery of European withholding 
taxes which became available following various court 
decisions. All the claims have been lodged and are in 
the process of being considered by relevant tax 
authorities. There is no further work being carried  
out on this matter but the repayment of the withholding 
tax may take a number of years to be completed. 

•	 KPMG LLP provided tax reclaim services up to 
December 2016, at which point the services were 
completed and the arrangement terminated. No 
services have since been provided to the Company  
by KPMG LLP.

The Committee does not consider the provision of this 
non-audit work to the Company affects the independence 
of the Auditors. The EU Audit legislation is applicable to 
the Company for the accounting year commenced on  
1 May 2017 and the Company will be fully compliant.  

APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS AND TENURE
The Committee also considers by way of meetings and 
reports, the appointment, remuneration and work of 
the Auditors.

The Committee carried out a formal competitive tender 
for the Company’s statutory audit during 2016. Four firms 
were invited to tender with presentations to the Chair of 
the audit Committee and a review of the presentations 
was presented to the Committee with a recommendation 
and a reserve choice. The selected firm presented to the 
Committee in December 2016. The Committee agreed to 
appoint KPMG LLP and approved their proposed fees. 

In accordance with the current legislation, the Company 
will need to re-tender for new Auditors at least every 10 
years and will have to change its auditor after 20 years.

PwC will continue in their role as Auditors for 2017 but 
will not be offering themselves for reappointment as 
Auditors at the AGM on 7 September 2017. A resolution  
to appoint KPMG LLP will be submitted for Shareholder 
approval together with a separate to authorise the 
Directors to determine their remuneration.

There are no contractual obligations restricting the 
choice of external Auditors.

OVERVIEW OF RISK
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the 
management of risk throughout the Company and has 
asked the Audit Committee to assist in maintaining an 
effective Internal Control environment.

The Audit Committee on behalf of the Board has a risk 
management process which is used throughout the year 
to monitor the risks and controls which are set out in a 
Risk Map.  As part of the year end processes the Audit 
Committee undertook a review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal controls taking into account any issues 
that had arisen during the course of the year. 
Representatives of the Investment Manager reported to 
the Committee on the Internal controls operated by the 
Investment Manager and it also received internal control 
reports from other key suppliers on the quality and 
effectiveness of the services provided to the Company.

The Audit Committee uses a Risk Map which seeks to 
identify, monitor and control principle risks as far as 
possible. Over the year the Audit Committee has 
undertaken a review of the entire Risk Map to identify the 
principle risks facing the business and reviewed each risk 
as to it likelihood and impact. The Committee also 
robustly considered the mitigating factors and controls to 
reduce the impact of such risks as described on pages 42 
to 45. As well as the annual review the Audit Committee 
has maintained an active process throughout the year to 
monitor these risks and controls in order to provide 
assurance that they operate as intended and the Risk Map 
reflect developing and new risks.

There were no issues which arose during the course of 
the year ended 30 April 2017 and up to the date of this 
report which were considered significant.

The Audit Committee will actively continue to monitor the 
system of internal controls through the regular review of 
the Risk Map and the internal control environment. 

The Audit Committee has noted that the Investment 
Manager has policies on whistleblowing policy, 
antibribery policy and the Modern Slavery Act and has 
controls and monitoring to implement their policy across 
the main contractors which supply goods and services to 
the Investment Manager and the Company.

The Audit Committee has also considered the policy and 
controls used by the Investment Manager surrounding the 
use of brokerage commissions generated from 
transactions in the Company’s portfolio.
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GOING CONCERN AND LONGER-TERM VIABILITY 
The Audit Committee at the request of the Board has considered the ability of the Company to adopt the Going Concern 
Basis for the preparation of the Financial Statements. The Committee also considered the longer-term viability 
requirements, so the Board may state that they have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue 
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment. These assessments take 
account of the Company’s current financial position, its cash flows and its liquidity position and the principle risks as  
set out on pages 43 to 45 and the Committee’s assessment of any material uncertainties and events that might cast 
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Audit Committee has considered the following assumptions in making their assessment:

The ability of the 
Company to meet 
its liabilities as 
they fall due

The financial position of the Company and its cash flows and liquidity position are described in the 
Strategic Report and the Financial Statements. 

Note 28 to the Financial Statements includes the Company’s policies and process for managing  
its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of financial instruments and hedging 
activities. Exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk are also disclosed.

The portfolio comprises of investments traded on major international stock exchanges, there is  
a spread of investments by size of company. 

The current portfolio could be liquidated to the extent of 99.3% within seven trading days and there 
is no expectation that the nature of the investments held within the portfolio will be materially 
different in future.

The expenses of the Company are predictable and modest in comparison with the assets and there 
are no capital commitments foreseen which would alter that position. 

The Company has no employees except for the Non‑executive Directors and consequently does not 
have redundancy or other employment related liabilities or responsibilities.

The Company 
faces a 
continuation vote 
at the AGM in 
September 2020

Under the AIC SORP guidance that, where Shareholders have the opportunity to vote in favour or 
against a company continuing in existence, it will normally be the case that Shareholders will have  
to vote in favour of a liquidation before it can occur. It follows that, even if an Investment Company  
is approaching a wind-up or continuation vote, and where Shareholders have yet to vote on the 
issue, it will usually be more appropriate for the Financial Statements to be prepared on a going 
concern basis whilst making the material uncertainties disclosures set out in paragraph 3.9 of FRS 
102; and that adoption of a non-going concern basis is expected to be a rare event.

Further It is reasonable to believe that if good performance is achieved over the period until the 
next continuation vote in 2020 the Company will pass the continuation vote.

Factors impacting 
the forthcoming 
year

The Strategic Review Section, comprising the Chairman’s Statement, the Investment Manager’s 
Report and the Strategic Report provide a comprehensive review of such factors.

Regulatory 
changes

Despite the increased level of regulations and the unpredictability of future requirements it is  
considered that regulation will not increase to a level that makes the running of the Company 
uneconomical in comparison to other competitive products. 

That the business model of being a closed ended investment fund will continue to be wanted  
by investors and the investment objective be desired and achievable.

In light of the information provided to the Committee and the assessment of the financial position of the Company the 
Committee has recommended that a Going Concern Basis should be adopted by the Board for the preparation of the 
Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2017. The Committee has also recommended to the Board that the 
Company’s longer-term prospects to continue its operations and meet its expenses and liabilities as they fall due  
over the five years are reasonable.

Charlotta Ginman
Chairman of the Audit Committee

18 July 2017
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INTRODUCTION
This report is submitted in accordance with the Large and 
Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) (Amendment) Regulation 2013 and the Listing 
Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority in respect of the 
year ended 30 April 2017. It has been audited where 
indicated as such.

Chairman’s Report
I assumed the chair of this Committee following the 
retirement of Rupert Montagu in September 2016. Sarah 
Bates and Charlotta Ginman served on the committee 
until 30 April 2017. From 1 May 2017 the membership of 
the Committee has been revised to comprise of all the 
independent Non-executive Directors.

The Committee meets at least annually and is responsible 
for recommending the framework for the remuneration of 
Directors including the ongoing appropriateness of the 
Remuneration Policy and the individual remuneration of 
Directors based on their contributions. The Committee 
aims to pay fees at a median level, relative to other 
companies in the sector reflecting the responsibilities  
and time commitments of the Board. 

Shareholders will be presented with two resolutions at 
the AGM on 7 September. The first will be to renew the 

Remuneration Policy and the second to vote on the fees 
received by the Directors in the year ended 30 April 2017. 

The Remuneration Policy has to be approved by 
Shareholders every three years. Our current 
Remuneration Policy will expire on 30 April 2018 so an 
ordinary resolution will be submitted to Shareholders at 
the AGM to approve a new Remuneration Policy. There are 
no changes proposed from the current Remuneration 
Policy. The new Remuneration Policy, if approved by 
Shareholders, will expire on 30 April 2021.

Shareholders also have the opportunity to vote on 
Directors’ pay at each AGM and an ordinary resolution  
to approve the Implementation Report for the year to  
30 April 2017 will be put to the AGM on 7 September 2017. 
Directors fees have been paid in accordance with the 
Shareholder approved Remuneration Policy. 

Shareholders’ views in respect of Directors’ 
Remuneration are communicated at the Company’s  
AGM and are taken into account in formulating the 
Directors’ Remuneration Policy.

The Company’s Articles of Association currently limit the 
aggregate fees payable to Directors to £250,000 pa.

REMUNERATION POLICY
The Remuneration Policy as approved by Shareholders at the AGM in 2014. The policy is unchanged and is resubmitted 
for approval by Shareholders at the AGM in 2017. 

Operation Opportunity

How policy supports strategy:

The Board consists entirely of 
Non-executive Directors, who  
meet regularly to deal with the 
Company’s affairs.

The intention is that fees payable 
reflect the time spent by them 
individually and collectively, be  
of a level appropriate to their 
responsibilities and be in line with 
market practice, sufficient to enable 
candidates of high calibre to be 
recruited and retained.

Non-executive Directors have formal letters  
of appointment and their remuneration is 
determined by the Board within the limits  
set by the Articles of Association.

Rates are reviewed annually but the review will 
not necessarily result in any change to rates.

Non-executive Directors are appointed initially 
for a three year term, subject to re-electionby 
Shareholders.

All fees are paid in cash, monthly in arrears, 
to the Director concerned or to a nominated 
third party.

The Company’s policy in 
relation to fees is to offer 
only a fixed basic fee in line 
with equivalent roles within 
the sector with additional 
fees for the roles of 
Chairman of the Company 
and Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and SID.

As the Company is an investment 
trust and all the Directors are 
Non-executive, it is considered 
inappropriate to have any long-term 
incentive schemes or benefits.

Non-executive Directors do not receive any 
bonus, nor do they participate in any long-term 
incentive schemes or pension schemes.

There are no performance 
conditions relating to 
Non-executive Directors 
fees.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT 
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2017 FEE REVIEW
The Committee has carried out its annual review of fees paid to the Directors. While such a review will not necessarily 
result in any change to the rates the committee believes that it is important that these reviews happen annually. 
The Committee when considering fees favours modest annual increases rather than larger increase awarded at 
longer intervals.

The Committee has considered the 2017 annual fee review and has made the following changes:

•	 Chairman 
The annual fee for the Chairman has been increased from £40,000 to £41,500pa with effect from 1 May 2017. 
 
The Committee believed that the fee for the role of the Chairman should be increased more than for the other 
Directors to reflect the continual extra work required.

•	 Directors 
The annual fee for a Director has been increased from £26,000 to £26,800pa with effect from 1 May 2017. 
 
The Committee considered the extra fee for carrying out the duties of Chairman of the Audit Committee and Senior 
Independent Director was still appropriate. It was decided that the supplements will increase to £3,500 with effect 
from 1 May 2017. This is the first increase in these supplements since they were set in 2010 at £3,000pa. 

•	 Other fees and incentives 
As the Company is an investment trust it has no executive Directors or employees and as all the Directors are 
Non-executive, it is considered inappropriate to have any long-term incentive schemes and the fees are not 
specifically related to the Directors’ performance, either individually or collectively.

Mr Moule did not participate in the discussion about the remuneration for the Chairman. Each Director excluded 
themself when the fees relating to their position were discovered. 

The Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred by them in connection with the 
performance of their duties and attendance at Board and General Meetings. In certain circumstance, under HMRC  
rules travel and other out of pocket expenses reimbursed to the Directors may be considered as taxable benefits. 
Where expenses are classified as taxable under HMRC guidance, they are shown in the taxable column of the  
Directors remuneration table. The taxable expenses comprise of travel and associated expenses incurred by the 
Directors attending the Board meetings held in London and are subject to tax and National Insurance. The Policy  
on claiming expenses was reviewed and revised during the year.

Service Contracts
None of the Directors has a contract of service or a contract for services and a Director may resign by giving one 
month’s notice in writing to the Board at any time. In accordance with recommended practice, each Director has 
received a letter setting out the terms of his appointment.

New Directors are appointed and elected with the expectation that they will serve for a period of at least three years. Each 
Director’s appointment is reviewed formally each time a Director retires by rotation under the Articles of Association.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance / Indemnity
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held by the Company in respect of the Directors. The Company has to 
the extent permitted by law and the Company’s Articles of Association provided each Director with a Deed of Indemnity 
which, subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and UK legislation, indemnifies the Director in respect of 
costs which they may incur relating to the defence of any proceedings brought against them arising out of their position 
as Directors (excluding criminal and regulatory penalties). Directors’ legal costs may be funded up-front provided they 
reimburse the Company if the individual is convicted or, in an action brought by the Company, judgment is given against 
him. These provisions were in force during the year and remain in force.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT 
CONTINUED
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The results of the Shareholder vote on the Directors’ Implementation Report submitted to the 2016 Annual General 
Meeting and on Directors’ Policy Report submitted to the 2014 Annual General Meeting as follows:

Implementation Report Policy Report

Votes for 99.4% of votes cast 99.4% of votes cast

Votes against 0.6% of votes cast 0.6% of votes cast

IMPLEMENTATION REPORT – REMUNERATION PAID IN THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2017
In the year under review the Directors’ fees were paid at the following annual rates, the Chairman £40,000; other 
Directors £26,000 with the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Senior Independent Director each receiving an 
extra £3,000 for performing that additional role.

Brian Ashford-Russell waived his fee for the year ended 30 April 2016 and has indicated that he will do so for the 
forthcoming year.

REMUNERATION (AUDITED) 
The fees payable in respect of each of the Directors were as follows:

Year ended 30 April 2017 Year ended 30 April 2016

Fixed  
Fee

Taxable 
Expenses

(Note 1)
Total 

Remuneration 
Fixed  

Fee
Taxable 

Expenses
Total 

Remuneration 

Michael Moule (Chairman) £40,000 – £40,000 £39,500 – £39,500

Brian Ashford-Russell (Note 2) – – – – – –

Sarah Bates £26,000 – £26,000 £25,750 – £25,750

Tim Cruttenden (Note 3) 
(appointed 23 March 2017) £2,778 – £2,778 – – –

Charlotta Ginman  
(Chairman of the Audit Committee) £29,000 – £29,000 £27,750 – £27,750

Peter Hames (SID) £28,000 £903 £28,903 £25,750 – £25,750

Rupert Montagu  
(Retired 9 September 2016) £10,488 – £10,488 £28,750 – £28,750

David Gamble  
(Retired 9 September 2015) – – – £9,583 – £9,583

TOTAL £136,266 £903 £137,169 £157,083 – £157,083

Note 1: Taxable travel and subsistance expenses incurred in attending Board and Committee meetings. The amount disclosed below is the gross pre-tax amount.

Note 2: Fee of £26,000 waived (2015: fee of £25,750 waived). 

Note 3: Under the terms of Mr Cruttenden’s appointment his Director’s fee and any expenses incurred are paid to VenCap International plc and will continue to be so.

No pension contributions or other remuneration or compensation was paid or payable by the Company during the 
year to any of the Directors. Consequently, the figures shown above comprise the single total remuneration figure  
for each Director.
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DIRECTORS’ SHARE INTERESTS (AUDITED)
The interests of Directors who were in office at 30 April 2017 in the ordinary shares of the Company at 30 April 2017 and 
30 April 2016 or date of appointment are as follows:

Beneficial:

Ordinary Shares

30 April 2017 30 April 2016

Michael Moule 10,000 10,000

Brian Ashford-Russell 270,000 270,000

Sarah Bates 9,000 4,000

Tim Cruttenden (appointed 23 March 2017) – –

Charlotta Ginman 3,688 3,688

Peter Hames 10,000 10,000

There have been no changes in these interests between the end of the financial year and 18 July 2017.

PERFORMANCE
A performance comparison is required to be presented in this report. The Dow Jones World Technology Index is shown 
because, as a market capitalisation weighted index based on the entire global technology sector, it is the most 
appropriate single market index.

Approved by the Board on 18 July 2017.

Peter Hames
Senior Independent Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Dow Jones World Technology Index
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the 
Financial Statements in accordance with applicable  
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial 
Statements for each financial year. Under that law  
the Directors have prepared the Company’s Financial 
Statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the  
European Union.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors 
have also elected to comply with IFRSs, issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Under company law the Directors must not approve the 
Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for  
that period. In preparing these Financial Statements,  
the Directors are required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
them consistently;

•	 make judgements and accounting estimates that  
are reasonable and prudent;

•	 state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the 
Financial Statements; and

•	 prepare the Financial Statements on the Going 
Concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 
and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements 
and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the 
Companies Act 2006.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets  
of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps  
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the Company’s website although day to day 
maintenance has been delegated to Polar Capital LLP.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of Financial Statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. The 
work carried out by the Auditors does not involve 
consideration of these matters and, accordingly the 
Auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that 
may occur to the Financial Statements since they were 
initially presented on the website.

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and 
Financial Statements, when taken as a whole, is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for Shareholders to assess the 
Company’s performance, business model and strategy.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO  
THE AUDITORS
As far as the Directors are aware and to the best of their 
knowledge, having made enquiries, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Auditors are unaware and 
the Directors have taken steps to make themselves aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Auditors are aware of such information.

GOING CONCERN
The Board has through the Audit Committee considered 
and assessed the Company’s position as at 30 April 2017. 
The work of the Audit committee is described on pages 65 
to 68 and sets out the factors on which the Going Concern 
Basis for the preparation of the Financial Statements was 
considered and the Board considers that it is appropriate 
to continue the Going Concern Basis in preparing the 
Financial Statements of the Company.

LONGER-TERM VIABILITY
The Board through the Audit Committee considered and 
addressed the ability of the Company to continue to 
operate over a longer period. The work of the Audit 
Committee in looking at the longer-term viability is 
described on page 68. Through the work described the 
Board considers that the Company has a reasonable 
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in 
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due for the 
next five years.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT UNDER THE  
DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY RULES
The Directors of Polar Capital Technology Trust plc,  
who are listed on pages 50 and 51, confirm to the best  
of their knowledge:

•	 the Financial Statements are prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union, and give a true and  
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position  
and profit of the Company; and

•	 the Strategic Report Section comprising the 
Chairman’s Statement, Investment Manager’s Report, 
Strategic Report and Directors’ Report (together 
constituting the Management Report) include a fair 
review of the development and performance of the 
business and financial position of the Company  
and include a description of the principal risks  
and uncertainties.

The Financial Statements and the responsibility 
statements were approved by the Board on 18 July 2017 
and signed on its behalf by Michael Moule, Chairman of 
the Board.

Michael Moule
Chairman

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES CONTINUED
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our opinion
In our opinion, Polar Capital Technology Trust’s financial 
statements (the “financial statements”):

•	 give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s 
affairs as at 30 April 2017 and of its profit and cash 
flows for the year then ended;

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
as adopted by the European Union; and

•	 have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited
The financial statements, included within the Annual 
Report, comprise:

•	 the Balance Sheet as at 30 April 2017;

•	 the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year 
then ended;

•	 the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended;

•	 the Statements of Changes in Equity for the year  
then ended; and

•	 the notes to the financial statements, which include  
a summary of significant accounting policies and  
other explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented 
elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the  
notes to the financial statements. These are cross-
referenced from the financial statements and are 
identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in the preparation of the financial statements is IFRSs  
as adopted by the European Union, and applicable law.

Our audit approach
Materiality
•	 Overall materiality: £12.5 million which represents  

1% of net assets

Audit Scope
•	 The Company is a standalone Investment Trust 

Company and engages Polar Capital LLP (the 
“Manager”) to manage its assets

•	 We conduct our audit of the financial statements  
at the offices of HSBC Securities Services (the 
“Administrator”) who the Manager has, with the 
consent of the Directors, delegated the provision  
of certain administrative functions

•	 We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we 
performed enough work to be able to give an opinion 
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into 
account the types of investments within the Company, 
the involvement of the Manager and Administrator, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in 
which the Company operates.

Areas of focus
•	 Income from investments.

•	 Valuation and existence of investments.

The scope of our audit and our areas of focus
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK 
& Ireland)”).

We designed our audit by determining materiality and 
assessing the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements. In particular, we looked at where 
the directors made subjective judgements, for example in 
respect of significant accounting estimates that involved 
making assumptions and considering future events that 
are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also 
addressed the risk of management override of internal 
controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence 
of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud. 

The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest 
effect on our audit, including the allocation of our 
resources and effort, are identified as “areas of focus” in 
the table below. We have also set out how we tailored our 
audit to address these specific areas in order to provide 
an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, and any 
comments we make on the results of our procedures 
should be read in this context. This is not a complete list 
of all risks identified by our audit. 
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Income from investments

Refer to page 66 (Audit Committee Report), page 86 
(Accounting Policies) and page 90 (notes).

ISAs (UK & Ireland) presume there is a risk of fraud in 
income recognition. We considered this risk to 
specifically relate to the risk of overstating investment 
gains and the misclassification of dividend income as 
capital rather than revenue due to the pressure 
management may feel to achieve capital growth in line 
with the objective of the Company.

We focused on the valuation of investments with respect 
to gains on investments and the accuracy and 
completeness of dividend income recognition and its 
presentation in the Income Statement as set out in the 
requirements of The Association of Investment 
Companies Statement of Recommended Practice (the 
‘AIC SORP’).

We assessed the accounting policy for income recognition for 
compliance with accounting standards and the AIC SORP and 
performed testing to check that income had been accounted 
for in accordance with this stated accounting policy.

We found that the accounting policies implemented were in 
accordance with accounting standards and the AIC SORP, 
and that income has been accounted for in accordance with 
the stated accounting policy.

We understood and assessed the design and implementation 
of key controls surrounding income recognition.

In addition, we tested dividend receipts by agreeing the 
dividend rates from a sample of investments to independent 
third party sources. No misstatements were identified by 
our testing which required reporting to those charged with 
governance.

To test for completeness, we tested that the appropriate 
dividends had been received in the year by reference to 
independent data of dividends declared for a sample of 
investment holdings in the portfolio. Our testing did not 
identify any unrecorded dividends.

We tested the allocation and presentation of dividend income 
between the revenue and capital return columns of the 
Income Statement in line with the requirements set out in 
the AIC SORP. We then tested the classification of income 
and capital special dividends to independent third party 
sources. We did not find any special dividends that were not 
treated in accordance with the AIC SORP.

Valuation and existence of investments

Refer to page 66 (Report of the Audit Committee), page 
88 (Accounting Policies) and page 94 (Notes to the 
Accounts). The investment portfolio at 30 April 2017 
comprised listed equity investments of £1,220 million 
and unlisted investments of £0.3m. We focused on the 
valuation and existence of investments because 
investments represent the principal element of the net 
asset value as disclosed in the Statement of Financial 
Position in the financial statements.

We 100% tested the valuation of the listed investments by 
agreeing the prices used in the valuation to independent 
third party sources. No misstatements were identified by 
our testing which required reporting to those charged 
with governance.

We agreed the existence of investments to independent third 
party sources by agreeing the holdings of investments to an 
independent confirmation from the Depositary, HSBC Bank 
plc. No differences were identified.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we 
performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on 
the financial statements as a whole, taking into account 
the types of investments within the Company, the 
involvement of the Manager and Administrator,  the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in 
which the company operates. 

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application  
of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds  
for materiality. These, together with qualitative 
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of  
our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures on the individual financial statement line 
items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of 
misstatements, both individually and on the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole 
as follows:

Overall 
materiality

£12.5 million (2016: £8.0 million).

How we 
determined it

1% of net assets.

Rationale for 
benchmark 
applied

We have applied this benchmark, a 
generally accepted auditing practise for 
investment trust audits, in the absence of 
indicators that an alternative benchmark 
would be appropriate and because we 
believe this provides an appropriate and 
because we believe this provides an 
appropriate and consistent year on year 
basis for our audit.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report 
to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
£626,000 (2016: £400,000) as well as misstatements below 
that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for 
qualitative reasons.

Going concern
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the 
directors’ statement, set out on page 68, in relation to 
going concern. We have nothing to report having 
performed our review.

Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you 
if we have anything material to add or to draw attention to 
in relation to the directors’ statement about whether they 
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements. We have nothing 
material to add or to draw attention to. 

As noted in the directors’ statement, the directors have 
concluded that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements. The going 
concern basis presumes that the company has adequate 
resources to remain in operation, and that the directors 
intend it to do so, for at least one year from the date the 
financial statements were signed. As part of our audit we 
have concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis is appropriate. However, because not all 
future events or conditions can be predicted, these 
statements are not a guarantee as to the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING
Consistency of other information and 
compliance with applicable requirements
Companies Act 2006 reporting
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit:

•	 the information given in the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements; and

•	 the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.
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In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we are required to report if we have identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ Report. We have nothing to report in this respect.

ISAs (UK & Ireland) reporting
Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 information in the Annual Report is:

–– materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or

–– apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge  
of the company acquired in the course of performing our audit; or

–– otherwise misleading.

We have no 
exceptions  
to report.

•	 the statement given by the directors on page 73, in accordance with provision c.1.1 of the  
UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), that they consider the Annual Report taken as  
a whole to be fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for 
members to assess the company’s position and performance, business model and strategy  
is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the company acquired in the course of 
performing our audit.

We have no 
exceptions  
to report.

•	 the section of the Annual Report on page 65, as required by provision c.3.8 of the Code, 
describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters 
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

We have no 
exceptions  
to report.

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the company and of the principal  
risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity of the company 
Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if we have anything material to add  
or to draw attention to in relation to:

•	 the directors’ confirmation on page 42 of the Annual Report, in accordance with provision  
c.2.1 of the Code, that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing  
the company, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, 
solvency or liquidity.

We have nothing 
material to add or 
to draw attention to.

•	 the disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are  
being managed or mitigated.

We have nothing 
material to add or 
to draw attention to.

•	 the directors’ explanation on page 73 of the Annual Report, in accordance with provision c.2.2  
of the Code, as to how they have assessed the prospects of the company, over what period they 
have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to 
whether they have a reasonable expectation that the company will be able to continue in 
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including 
any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing 
material to add or 
to draw attention to.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust 
assessment of the principal risks facing the company and the directors’ statement in relation to the longer-term 
viability of the company. Our review was substantially less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries 
and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements; checking that the statements are in alignment  
with the relevant provisions of the Code; and considering whether the statements are consistent with the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing our audit. We have nothing to report having performed our review.
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Adequacy of accounting records and information 
and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

•	 we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit; or

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or 
returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

•	 the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration report –  
Companies Act 2006 opinion
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report 
to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no 
exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Corporate governance statement
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the part 
of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to ten 
further provisions of the Code. We have nothing to report 
having performed our review. 

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND THE AUDIT
Our responsibilities and those of the directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 73, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for 
and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 

other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 

•	 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 
company’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; 

•	 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by the directors; and 

•	 the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing 
the directors’ judgements against available evidence, 
forming our own judgements, and evaluating the 
disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other 
auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to 
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We 
obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of 
controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report. With respect to the Strategic 
Report and Directors’ Report, we consider whether those 
reports include the disclosures required by applicable 
legal requirements. 

Allan McGrath (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

Edinburgh

18 July 2017

•	� The maintenance and integrity of the Polar Capital Technology Trust plc website is 
the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not 
involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements 
since they were initially presented on the website.

•	� Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Videogame companies remain rare content 
beneficiaries of digital distribution made possible by 
the Internet. Market consolidation (the ‘big 4’ Western 
publishers estimated to have had >50% console 
market share in 2016) and less emphasis on creating 
new high end ‘AAA’ franchises have also allowed the 
$100bn industry to achieve greater scale and 
profitability, together with reduced risk. Next-
generation consoles have also spurred the adoption  
of full game digital downloads and more importantly, 
additional digital content (DLC) and micro-transactions 
which accounted for c.52% of PC/Console sales for the 
big 4 in 2016E with greater than 90% incremental gross 
margin. In addition, smartphone and tablet gaming – 
worth $37bn in 2016 – is expanding, rather than 

cannibalising the overall opportunity. eSports 
(competitive gaming as a spectator sports) represents 
an additional future growth avenue; in 2016 there were 
148m eSports enthusiasts and a further 144m 
occasional viewers tuning in for big events. To put that 
into context c.31m people watched the NBA finals in 
2016, versus c.36m who watched the League of 
Legends world finals in 2015. While the spectacular 
success of Pokemon Go highlights the long-term 
potential associated with augmented reality (AR), 
virtual reality (VR) also has significant promise with 
the technology potentially moving beyond gaming and 
into existing markets such as live events, real estate 
and education.

VIDEOGAMES



Financial Statements

82 Polar Capital Technology Trust plc
Annual Report & Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2017

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 April 2017

Notes

Year ended 30 April 2017 Year ended 30 April 2016

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Investment income 3 8,733 – 8,733 6,618 – 6,618 

Other operating income 4 8 – 8 5 – 5 

Gains on investments held at fair value 5 – 442,491 442,491 – 8,782 8,782 

Gains on derivatives 6 – 4,972 4,972 – 1,550 1,550 

Other currency gains 7 – 6,333 6,333 – 1,040 1,040 

Total income 8,741 453,796 462,537 6,623 11,372 17,995 

Expenses

Investment management fee 8 (9,896) – (9,896) (7,921) – (7,921)

Other administrative expenses 9 (923) – (923) (759) – (759)

Total expenses (10,819) – (10,819) (8,680) – (8,680)

(Loss)/profit before finance costs and tax (2,078) 453,796 451,718 (2,057) 11,372 9,315 

Finance costs 10 (650) – (650) (445) – (445)

(Loss)/profit before tax (2,728) 453,796 451,068 (2,502) 11,372 8,870 

Tax 11 (1,220) – (1,220) (582) – (582)

Net (loss)/profit for the year and 
total comprehensive income (3,948) 453,796 449,848 (3,084) 11,372 8,288 

Earnings per ordinary share  
(Basic) (pence) 12 (2.98) 342.83 339.85 (2.33) 8.59 6.26 

The total column of this statement represents the Company’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, prepared in 
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union. 

The revenue return and capital return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance 
published by the Association of Investment Companies.

All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The Company does not have any other comprehensive income.

The notes on pages 86 to 107 form part of these Financial Statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 30 April 2017

Share 
capital

£’000

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£’000

Share 
premium

£’000

Special non-
distributable 

reserve
£’000

Capital 
reserves

£’000

Revenue 
reserve

£’000
Total

£’000

Total equity at 1 May 2015 33,084 12,802 141,955 7,536 672,339 (74,697) 793,019

Total comprehensive income:

Profit/(loss) for the  
year to 30 April 2016 – – – – 11,372 (3,084) 8,288

Total equity at 30 April 2016 33,084 12,802 141,955 7,536 683,711 (77,781) 801,307

Total comprehensive income:

Issue of ordinary shares 38 – 1,332 – – –  1,370 

Profit/(loss) for the 
year to 30 April 2017 – – – – 453,796 (3,948)  449,848 

Total equity at 30 April 2017 33,122 12,802 143,287 7,536 1,137,507 (81,729) 1,252,525

The notes on pages 86 to 107 form part of these Financial Statements.
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BALANCE SHEET
at 30 April 2017

Notes
30 April 2017

£’000
30 April 2016

£’000

Non-current assets

Investments held at fair value through profit or loss 13  1,220,068  764,771 

Current assets

Receivables 14  20,807  12,811 

Overseas tax recoverable  70  96 

Cash and cash equivalents 15  63,602  70,325 

Derivative financial instruments 13  716  2,244 

 85,195  85,476 

Total assets  1,305,263  850,247 

Current liabilities

Payables 16 (15,545) (15,375)

Bank loans 17 (37,193) (33,565)

(52,738) (48,940)

Net assets  1,252,525  801,307 

Equity attributable to equity Shareholders

Share capital 18  33,122  33,084 

Capital redemption reserve 19  12,802  12,802 

Share premium 20  143,287  141,955 

Special non-distributable reserve 21  7,536  7,536 

Capital reserves 22  1,137,507  683,711 

Revenue reserve 23 (81,729) (77,781)

Total equity  1,252,525  801,307 

Net asset value per ordinary share (pence) 26 945.39 605.51

The Financial Statements, on pages 82 to 85, were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
18 July 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Michael Moule
Chairman

The notes on pages 86 to 107 form part of these Financial Statements.

Registered number 3224867
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Notes
2017

£’000
2016

£’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 451,068 8,870 

Adjustment for non-cash items:

Foreign exchange (gains) (6,333) (1,040)

Adjusted profit before tax 444,735 7,830 

Adjustments for:

(Increase)/decrease in investments (455,297) 5,582 

Decrease/(increase) in derivative financial instruments 1,528 (2,244)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (7,996) 1,764 

Increase in payables 170 3,087 

(461,595) 8,189 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities before tax (16,860) 16,019 

Overseas tax deducted at source (1,194) (575)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (18,054) 15,444 

Cash flows from financing activities

Loans matured – (13,649)

Loans drawn – 30,621

Issue of ordinary shares 1,370 –

Net cash generated from financing activities 1,370 16,972 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (16,684) 32,416 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 70,325 33,815 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 9,961 4,094 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 63,602 70,325 

The notes on pages 86 to 107 form part of these Financial Statements.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 April 2017
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017

1	 GENERAL INFORMATION
	 General Information

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), as adopted by the European Union and 
with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and IFRIC guidance.

The Company’s presentational currency is Pounds Sterling. Pounds Sterling is also the functional currency of 
the Company because it is the currency which is most relevant to the majority of the Company’s Shareholders 
and creditors and the currency in which the majority of the Company’s operating expenses are paid.

2	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies, which have been applied consistently for all years presented are set out below:

	 (a) Basis of Preparation
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention,  
as modified by the inclusion of investments and derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss. Where presentational guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) for investment 
trusts issued by the Association of Investment Companies (AIC) in November 2014 and updated in January 2017 
(which superseded the SORP issued in January 2009) is consistent with the requirements of IFRS, the 
Directors have sought to prepare the Financial Statements on a basis compliant with the recommendations of 
the SORP.

The financial position of the Company as at 30 April 2017 is shown in the balance sheet on page 84. As at 
30 April 2017 the Company’s total assets exceeded its total liabilities by a multiple of over 25. The assets of 
the Company consist mainly of securities that are held in accordance with the Company’s investment policy, 
as set out on page 37 and these securities are readily realisable. The Directors consider that the Company  
has adequate financial resources to enable it to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, the Directors believe that it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Company’s accounts. 

	 (b) Presentation of Statement of Comprehensive Income
In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company and in accordance with the guidance set 
out by the AIC, supplementary information which analyses the Statement of Comprehensive Income between 
items of a revenue and capital nature has been presented alongside the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
The results presented in the revenue return column are the measure the Directors believe appropriate in 
assessing the Company’s compliance with certain requirements set out in section 1158 of the Corporation 
Taxes Act 2010.

	 (c) Income
Dividends receivable from equity shares are taken to the revenue return column of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on an ex-dividend basis. Special dividends are recognised on an ex-dividend basis and 
may be considered to be either revenue or capital items. The facts and circumstances are considered on a 
case by case basis before a conclusion on appropriate allocation is reached. Where the Company has received 
dividends in the form of additional shares rather than in cash, the amount of the cash dividend foregone is 
recognised in the revenue return column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Any excess in value of 
shares received over the amount of the cash dividend foregone is recognised in the capital return column of 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Franked income is stated net of tax credits. Unfranked income includes the taxes deducted at source.

Bank interest and other income receivable are accounted for on an accruals basis and are recognised in the 
period in which they were earned. Interest outstanding at the year end is calculated on a time apportioned 
basis using the market rates of interest.
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	 (d) Expenses and Finance Costs
All expenses, including finance costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

All expenses have been presented as revenue items except as follows: 

•	 any performance fees payable are allocated wholly to capital, reflecting the fact that, although they  
are calculated on a total return basis, they are expected to be attributable largely, if not wholly, to 
capital performance.

•	 transaction costs incurred on the acquisition or disposal of investments are expensed either as part of  
the unrealised gain/loss on investments (for acquisition costs) or as a deduction from the proceeds of sale 
(for disposal costs).

Finance costs are calculated using the effective interest rate method and are accounted for on an accruals basis.

	 (e) Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the overseas withholding tax deducted from investment income, tax 
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate tax relief on expenses 
presented against capital returns in the supplementary information in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income is the 'marginal basis'. Under this basis, if taxable income is capable of being offset entirely by 
expenses presented in the revenue return column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, then no tax 
relief is transferred to the capital return column.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised.

Investment trusts which have approval as such under section 1158 of the Corporation Taxes Act 2010 are not 
liable for taxation on capital gains. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 
or the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, except when it relates to items 
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

2	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
	 (f) Investments Held at Fair Value Through Profit or loss

When a purchase or sale is made under contract, the terms of which require delivery within the timeframe  
of the relevant market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date and are 
initially measured at fair value.

On initial recognition the Company has designated all of its investments as held at fair value through profit  
or loss as defined by IFRS. 

All investments are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, which is either the bid price or the 
last traded price, depending on the convention of the exchange on which the investment is quoted. Investments 
in unit trusts or OEICs are valued at the closing price, the bid price or the single price as appropriate, as 
released by the relevant investment manager.

Fair values for unquoted investments, or for investments for which there is only an inactive market, are 
established by using various valuation techniques. These may include recent arms length market transactions, 
the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and 
option pricing models. Where there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price  
the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in 
actual market transactions, that technique is utilised. Where no reliable fair value can be estimated for such 
instruments, they are carried at cost, subject to any provision for impairment.

Changes in fair value of all investments held at fair value and realised gains and losses on disposal are 
recognised in the capital return column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

	 (g) Receivables
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Receivables 
do not carry any interest and are short-term in nature and are accordingly stated at their nominal value 
(amortised cost) as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

	 (h) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. In the Statement of Cash Flows cash  
and cash equivalents also include bank overdrafts. In the Balance Sheet bank overdrafts are shown within 
current liabilities.

	 (i) Payables
Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Payables are  
not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value (amortised cost).

	 (j) Bank Loans
All bank loans are initially recognised at fair value, being the fair value of the consideration received, less issue 
costs where applicable. After initial recognition these loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlement. The amounts 
falling due for repayment within one year are included under current liabilities in the Balance Sheet.

	 (k) Rates of Exchange
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of 
each transaction. Monetary assets, monetary liabilities and equity investments in foreign currencies at the 
balance sheet date are translated into Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling on that date. Realised profits  
or losses on exchange, together with differences arising on the translation of foreign currency assets or 
liabilities, are taken to the capital return column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on investments held at fair value are included within changes in fair value.
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	 (l) Share Capital
Represents the nominal value of authorised and allocated, called-up and fully paid shares issued.

	 (m) Capital Reserves
Capital reserves – gains/losses on disposal includes:

•	 gains/losses on disposal of investments

•	 exchange differences on currency balances and on settlement of loan balances

•	 cost of own shares bought back

•	 other capital charges and credits charged to this account in accordance with the accounting policies above

Capital reserve – revaluation on investments held includes:

•	 increases and decreases in the valuation of investments and loans held at the year end.

All of the above are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income except the cost of own shares 
bought back which is accounted for in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

	 (n) Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in market prices, foreign 
currency exchange rates and interest rates. Derivative transactions which the Company may enter into 
comprise forward exchange contracts, the purpose of which is to manage the currency risks arising from the 
Company’s investing activities, quoted options on shares held within the portfolio, or on indices appropriate to 
sections of the portfolio, the purpose of which is to provide additional capital return. 

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Company’s policies as approved by the Board, which has set 
written principles for the use of financial derivatives.

A derivative instrument is considered to be used for hedging purposes when it alters the market risk profile of 
an existing underlying exposure of the Company. The use of financial derivatives by the Company does not 
qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS. As a result changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as they arise. If capital in nature,associated change in 
value is presented in the capital return column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

	 (o) Segmental Reporting
Under IFRS 8, ‘Operating Segments’, operating segments are considered to be the components of an entity 
about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating 
decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The chief operating 
decision maker has been identified as the Manager (with oversight from the Board).

The Board is of the opinion that the Company is engaged in a single segment of business, namely by investing 
in a diversified portfolio of technology companies from around the world in accordance with the Company’s 
Investment Objective, and consequently no segmental analysis is provided.

In line with IFRS 8, additional disclosure by geographical segment has been provided in note 27.

Further analyses of expenses, investment gains or losses, profit and other assets and liabilities by country 
have not been given as either it is not possible to prepare such information in a meaningful way or the results 
are not considered to be significant.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

2	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
	 (p) Key Estimates and Assumptions

Estimates and assumptions used in preparing the Financial Statements are reviewed on an ongoing basis  
and are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under  
the circumstances. The results of these estimates and assumptions form the basis of making judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The only estimates and assumptions that may cause material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities relate to the valuation of unquoted investments and investments for which there is an inactive 
market. These are valued in accordance with the techniques set out in note 1(f). At the year end, such 
investments represent 0.1% of net assets.

	 (q) New and revised accounting Standards
There were no new IFRSs or amendments to IFRSs applicable to the current year which had any significant 
impact on the Company’s accounts.

At the date of authorisation of these Financial Statements, the following new and amended IFRSs are in issue 
but are not yet effective and have not been applied in these accounts:

•	 IFRS 2 (amended) Classification and Measurement of Share-based payment transactions

•	 IFRS 4 (amended) Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS4 Insurance contracts

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

•	 IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

•	 IFRS 15 (amended) Revenue from Contracts with Customers

•	 IFRS 16 Leases

•	 IAS 7 (amended) Disclosure Initiative

•	 IAS 12 (amended) Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

•	 IAS 28 (amended) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a significant impact on the 
Company’s accounts in future periods.

3 	 INVESTMENT INCOME

Year ended
30 April 2017

£’000

Year ended
30 April 2016

£’000

Franked: Listed investments

Dividend income 140 174 

Unfranked: Listed investments

Dividend income 8,593 6,444 

8,733 6,618 
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4 	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Year ended 
30 April 2017

£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

Bank interest 8 5

5 	 GAINS ON INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR VALUE

Year ended  
30 April 2017 

£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

Net gains on disposal of investments at historic cost 130,629 66,411 

Transfer on disposal of investments (16,490) (91,024)

Gains based on carrying value at previous balance sheet date 114,139 (24,613)

Valuation gains on investments held during the year 328,352 33,395 

442,491 8,782 

6	 GAINS/(LOSSES) ON DERIVATIVES

Year ended 
30 April 2017

£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

Gains on disposal of derivatives held 6,021 646 

(Losses)/gains on revaluation of derivatives held (1,049) 904 

4,972 1,550 

7 	 OTHER CURRENCY GAINS/(LOSSES)

Year ended  
30 April 2017 

£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

Exchange gains on currency balances 9,961 4,177 

Exchange losses on settlement of loan balances – (83)

Exchange losses on translation of loan balances (3,628) (3,054)

6,333 1,040 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

8 	 INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT FEE

Year ended 
 30 April 2017 

£’000

Year ended 
 30 April 2016 

£’000

Investment management fee paid to Polar Capital (charged wholly to revenue) 9,896 7,921 

No performance fee was paid to Polar Capital in either the current or prior financial year.

For terms of the investment management agreement, see pages 45 and 46.

The quarterly investment management fee is calculated on the net assets on the last day of the prior quarter. 
The increase in the management fee for the year ended 30 April 2017 is due to the 56% increase in net assets 
which took place over the year to 30 April 2017.

9 	 OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Year ended  
30 April 2017 

£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

Directors' fees (including NIC) 148 171 

Depositary fee 132 92 

Registrar fee 60 46 

Custody and other bank charges 183 156 

UKLA and LSE listing fees 43 45 

Legal & professional fees 69 20 

AIC fees 20 20 

Auditors’ remuneration:

For audit of Financial Statements	 34 27 

For other services (taxation compliance services) 5 5 

Directors' and officers' liability insurance 9 9 

AGM expenses 6 4 

Corporate brokers' fee 36 32 

PR, website and marketing expenses 50 43 

Shareholder communications 87 62 

Other expenses (including Shareplan, ISA administration fees and Governance) 41 27 

923 759 

The Depositary fee and custody and other bank charges have increased due to the size of the fund.  
Legal and professional fees have increased due to the payment of a one off fee for tax reclaim services in 
Taiwan. The Registrars' fees have increased due to the additional FATCA and Common Reporting Standard 
compliance required by tax authorities on investors. The Shareholder communication increase is due to 
printing and distribution costs.
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10 	 FINANCE COSTS
Year ended  

30 April 2017 
£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

Interest on loans and overdrafts 650 396 

Loan arrangement fees – 49 

650 445 

11 	 TAXATION
Year ended  

30 April 2017 
£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

a) Analysis of tax charge for the year:

Overseas tax  1,220  582 

Total tax for the year (see Note 11b)  1,220  582 

b) Factors affecting tax charge for the year:

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows:

Profit before tax 451,068 8,870

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19%* 7,142 –

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 20% 82,696 1,774 

Tax effect of non-taxable dividends (1,739) (1,324)

Gains on investments that are not taxable (90,381) (2,277)

Unrelieved current year expenses and deficits 2,282 1,827 

Overseas tax suffered 1,220 582 

Total tax for the year (see Note 11a) 1,220 582 

c) Factors that may affect future tax charges:

There is an unrecognised deferred tax asset comprising:

Unrelieved management expenses  20,982  22,521 

Non-trading deficits  807  821 

 21,789  23,342 

	 * Under the Finance Act 2015, the rate of corporation tax was lowered to 19% from 1 April 2017.

The deferred tax asset is based on a prospective corporation tax rate of 17%, which was substantively enacted 
in September 2016 and is effective from 1 April 2020.

It is unlikely that the Company will generate sufficient taxable profits in the future to utilise these expenses 
and deficits and therefore no deferred tax asset has been recognised.

Due to the Company’s tax status as an investment trust and the intention to continue meeting the conditions 
required to obtain approval of such status in the foreseeable future, the Company has not provided tax on any 
capital gains arising on the revaluation or disposal of investments held by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

12 	 LOSS/EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

Year ended 30 April 2017 Year ended 30 April 2016

Revenue
return 
pence

Capital 
return
pence

Total
return
pence

Revenue
return 
pence

Capital 
return
pence

Total
return
pence

The calculation of basic 
earnings per share is based 
on the following data:

Net (loss)/profit for the year (£'000) (3,948) 453,796 449,848 (3,084) 11,372 8,288 

Weighted average ordinary shares 
in issue during the year 132,368,398 132,368,398 132,368,398 132,336,159 132,336,159 132,336,159 

From continuing operations

Basic – ordinary shares (pence) (2.98) 342.83 339.85 (2.33) 8.59 6.26 

As at 30 April 2017, there are no potentially dilutive shares in issue and the earnings per share therefore 
equate to those shown above (2016: there was no dilution).

13	 INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
	 i) Changes in non-current assets investments

Year ended 
30 April 2017 

£’000

Year ended 
30 April 2016 

£’000

Cost at 1 May 643,226 591,179 

Valuation gains 121,545 179,174 

Valuation at 1 May 764,771 770,353 

Additions at cost 703,984 827,622 

Proceeds of disposal (691,178) (841,986)

Gains/(losses) on disposal 114,139 (24,613)

Valuation gains 328,352 33,395 

Valuation at 30 April 1,220,068 764,771 

Cost at 30 April 786,661 643,226 

Closing fair value adjustment 433,407 121,545 

Valuation at 30 April 1,220,068 764,771 

Of which:

Listed on a recognised Stock Exchange 1,219,749 764,473 

Unlisted 319 298 

Included in additions at cost are purchase costs of £1,237,000 (30 April 2016: £1,404,000). Included in proceeds 
of disposals are sales costs of £1,071,000 (30 April 2016: £1,340,000). These comprise mainly of commission.
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	 ii) Changes in derivative financial instruments	
Year ended  

30 April 2017 
£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

Valuation at 1 May 2,244 –

Additions at cost 9,291 1,480 

Proceeds of disposal (15,801) (818)

Gains on disposal 6,031 678 

Valuation gains (1,049) 904 

Valuation at 30 April 716 2,244 

	 iii) Classification under Fair Value Hierarchy:
The table below sets out the fair value measurements using the IFRS7 fair value hierarchy. Categorisation 
within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement of the relevant asset as follows:

Level 1 – valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.

Level 2 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1.

Level 3 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The valuation techniques used by the company are explained in the accounting policies note on page 88.	

There have been no transfers during the year between Levels 1 and 2. A reconciliation of fair value 
measurements in Level 3 is set out below.

Year ended  
30 April 2017 

£’000

Year ended  
30 April 2016 

£’000

Equity Investments

Level 1 1,219,749 766,717 

Level 2 – –

Level 3 319 298 

1,220,068 767,015 

Level 3 investments at fair value through profit or loss

Year ended 
30 April 2017

£’000 

Year ended 
30 April 2016

£’000 

Opening balance 298 338 

Disposal proceeds (30) –

Total gains/(losses) included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

 – on assets held at the year end 51 (40)

Closing balance 319 298 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

13	 INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS CONTINUED
	 iv)	Unquoted investments

The value of the unquoted investments as at 30 April 2017 was £319,000 (30 April 2016: £298,000) and the 
portfolio comprised of the following holdings:

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016 
£’000

Herald Ventures Limited Partnership 91 32 

Herald Ventures Limited Partnership II 228 266 

319 298 

During the year Herald Ventures Limited Partnership distributed £30,000 (2016: £nil)

14 	 RECEIVABLES
30 April 2017

£’000
30 April 2016

£’000

Sales for future settlement 20,021 12,238 

Prepayments and accrued income 786 567 

VAT recoverable – 6 

20,807 12,811 

The carrying values of other receivables approximate their fair value.

15 	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
30 April 2017 

£’000
30 April 2016 

£’000

Cash at bank 63,602 70,325 

16 	 PAYABLES
30 April 2017 

£’000
30 April 2016 

£’000

Purchases for future settlement 12,545 13,188 

Accruals 3,000 2,187 

15,545 15,375 

The carrying values of other payables approximate their fair value.
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17 	 BANK LOANS
30 April 2017 

£’000
30 April 2016 

£’000

The Company has the following unsecured Japanese Yen and US Dollar loans:

JPN ¥2,800m at a rate of 0.995% repayable 2 October 2017 19,415 17,864 

$23m at a rate of 2.21% repayable 2 October 2017 17,778 15,701 

37,193 33,565

Bank loans are all due for settlement within 12 months and are stated at fair value, which equates to  
amortised cost.

The main covenants relating to the above loans are:

(i)	 Total borrowings shall not exceed 40% of the Company’s net asset value	

(ii)	 The Company’s minimum net asset value shall be £150 million

(iii)	 The Company shall not change the Investment Manager without prior written consent of the lenders.

18	 SHARE CAPITAL

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016 
£’000

Allotted, Called up and Fully paid:

Ordinary shares of 25p each

Opening balance of 132,336,159 (30 April 2016: 132,336,159) 33,084 33,084 

Issue of 150,841 (2016: nil) ordinary shares 38 –

Allotted, called up and fully paid: 132,487,000 
(30 April 2016: 132,336,159) ordinary shares of 25p 33,122 33,084

At 30 April 2017 33,122 33,084

During the year a total of 150,841 ordinary shares, nominal value £37,710 were issued to the market to satisfy 
demand, at an average price of 912.88p per share, for a total consideration received of £1,377,000.

This reserve is not distributable.

19 	 CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE
30 April 2017

£’000
30 April 2016

£’000

As at 1 May 2016 12,802 12,802 

As at 30 April 2017 12,802 12,802 

This reserve is not distributable.

20 	 SHARE PREMIUM
30 April 2017 

£’000
30 April 2016 

£’000

As at 1 May 2016 141,955 141,955 

Issue of 150,841 (2016: nil) ordinary shares 1,332 –

As at 30 April 2017 143,287 141,955 

This reserve is not distributable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

21 	 SPECIAL NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
30 April 2017 

£’000
30 April 2016 

£’000

As at 1 May 2016 7,536 7,536 

As at 30 April 2017 7,536 7,536 

This reserve is not distributable.

22	 CAPITAL RESERVES
Capital1 

reserve – 
gains/losses 

on disposal
30 April 2017

£’000 

Capital2 
reserve – 

revaluation
30 April 2017

£’000 

Total capital 
reserves

30 April 2017
£’000 

Capital 
reserve – 

gains/losses 
on disposal

30 April 2016
£’000 

Capital 
reserve – 

revaluation
30 April 2016

£’000 

Total capital 
reserves

30 April 2016
£’000 

As at 1 May 2016 564,205 119,506 683,711 493,054 179,285 672,339 

Net gains/(losses) on  
disposal of investments 114,139 – 114,139 (24,613) – (24,613)

Transfer on disposal  
of investments 16,490 (16,490) – 91,024 (91,024) –

Valuation gains on investments 
held during the year – 328,352 328,352 – 33,395 33,395 

Net gains/(losses) on  
derivative contracts 6,021 (1,049) 4,972 646 904 1,550 

Exchange gains on  
currency balances 9,961 – 9,961 4,177 – 4,177 

Exchange losses on  
settlement of loan balances – – – (83) – (83)

Exchange losses on  
translation of loan balances – (3,628) (3,628) – (3,054) (3,054)

As at 30 April 2017 710,816 426,691 1,137,507 564,205 119,506 683,711 

1. �These are realised distributable capital reserves which may be used to repurchase the Company’s shares or  
be distributed as dividends.

2. �This reserve comprises holdings gains on investments (which may be deemed to be realised) and other 
amounts, which are unrealised. An analysis has not been made between the amounts that are realised  
(and may be distributed or used to repurchase the Company’s shares) and those that are unrealised.

23	 REVENUE RESERVE

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016 
£’000

As at 1 May 2016 (77,781) (74,697)

Loss for the year to 30 April (3,948) (3,084)

As at 30 April 2017 (81,729) (77,781)

The revenue reserve may be distributed or used to repurchase the Company’s shares (subject to being a  
positive balance).
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24 	 NOTE TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Purchases and sales of investments are considered to be operating activities of the Company, given its 
purpose, rather than investing activities. However, the cash flows associated with these activities are 
presented below.

Year ended  
30 April 2017 

£’000

Year ended
30 April 2016 

£’000

Proceeds on disposal of fair value through profit or loss investments 683,395 843,981 

Purchases of fair value through profit or loss investments (704,627) (824,599)

(21,232) 19,382 

25 	 TRANSACTIONS WITH THE MANAGER AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	
	 (a)	Transactions with the Manager

Under the terms of an agreement dated 9 February 2001 the Company has appointed Polar Capital LLP ('Polar 
Capital') to provide investment management, accounting, secretarial and administrative services. Details of 
the fee arrangement for these services are given in the Strategic Report. The total fees, paid under this 
agreement to Polar Capital in respect of the year ended 30 April 2017 were £9,896,000 (2016: £7,921,000) of 
which £2,747,000 (2016: £1,978,000) was outstanding at the year-end.

	 (b) Related party transactions
The compensation payable to key management personnel in respect of short-term employee benefits is 
£136,000 (2016: £157,000) which comprises £136,000 (2016: £157,000) paid by the Company to the Directors.

Refer to pages 69 to 72 for the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

26 	 NET ASSET VALUE PER ORDINARY SHARE
Net asset value per share

30 April 2017 30 April 2016

Undiluted:

Net assets attributable to ordinary Shareholders (£'000) 1,252,525 801,307 

Ordinary shares in issue at end of year 132,487,000 132,336,159 

Net asset value per ordinary share (pence) 945.39  605.51 

As at 30 April 2017, there were no potentially dilutive shares in issue (2016: there was no dilution).

27 	 SEGMENTAL REPORTING
	 Geographical segments

Since the Company does not have external customers an analysis of the Company’s investments held at 
30 April 2017 by geographical segment and the related investment income earned during the year to 
30 April 2017 is noted below.

30 April 2017 
Value of 

investments
£’000

Year ended 
30 April 2017 

Gross  
income

£’000

30 April 2016 
Value of 

investments
£’000

Year ended 
30 April 2016 

Gross  
income

£’000

North America 865,399 5,426 563,523 4,368 

Europe 75,103 454 58,107 629 

Asia & Pacific 279,566 2,853 143,141 1,622 

Total 1,220,068 8,733 764,771 6,619 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

28 	 DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
	 Risk management policies and procedures

The Company invests in equities and other financial instruments for the long-term to further the investment 
objective set out on page 37. This exposes the Company to a range of financial risks that could impact on the 
assets or performance of the Company.

The main risks arising from the Company’s pursuit of its investment objective are market risk, liquidity risk, 
credit risk and gearing risk and the Directors’ approach to the management of them is set out below. The risks 
have remained unchanged since the beginning of the year to which the Financial Statements relate.

The Company’s exposure to financial instruments comprise:

•	 Equity and non-equity shares which are held in the investment portfolio in accordance with the Company’s 
investment objective.

•	 Term loans and bank overdrafts, the main purpose of which is to raise finance for the Company’s  
operations Cash, liquid resources and short-term receivables and payables that arise directly from  
the Company’s operations.

•	 Derivative transactions which the Company enters into which may include equity or index options, index 
future contracts, forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps.

The purpose of these is to manage the market price risks, foreign exchange risks and interest rate risks 
arising from the Company’s investment activities.

The overall management of the risks is determined by the Board and its approach to each risk identified is 
set out below. The Board and the Investment Manager co-ordinate the risk management and the Investment 
Manager assesses the exposure to market risk when making each investment decision.

	 (a) Market Risk
Market risk comprises three types of risk: market price risk (see note 28(a)(i)), currency risk (see note 28(a)
(ii)), and interest rate risk (see note 28(a)(iii)).

	 (i) Market Price Risk
The Company is an investment company and as such its performance is dependent on the valuation of its 
investments. Consequently market price risk is the most significant risk that the Company faces. Market  
price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments used in the Company’s 
operations. It represents the potential loss the Company might suffer through holding market positions in  
the face of price movements. A detailed breakdown of the investment portfolio is given on pages 30 to 36. 
Investments are valued in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies as stated in Note 2(f).

At the year end, the Company’s portfolio included derivative instruments of £716,000 (30 April 2016: £2,244,000)

	 Management of the risk
In order to manage this risk it is the Board’s policy to hold an appropriate spread of investments in the 
portfolio in order to reduce both the statistical risk and the risk arising from factors specific to a particular 
technology sector. The allocation of assets to international markets, together with stock selection covering 
small, medium and large companies, and the use of index options, are other factors which act to reduce price 
risk. The Investment Manager actively monitors market prices throughout the year and reports to the Board 
which meets regularly in order to consider investment strategy.
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	 Market price risk exposure	
The Company’s exposure to changes in market prices at 30 April on its quoted and unquoted investments 
was as follows:

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016 
£’000

Non-current asset investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,220,068 764,771 

Derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 716 2,244 

1,220,784 767,015 

An analysis of the Company’s portfolio is shown on pages 30 to 36.

	 Market price risk sensitivity
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the return after taxation for the year and the value of 
Shareholders’ funds to an increase or decrease of 15% (30 April 2015: 15%) in the fair values of the Company’s 
investments. This level of change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current 
market conditions and historic trends. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s investments at each 
balance sheet date, with all other variables held constant.

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016
£’000

Increase in 
fair value

£’000

Decrease in 
fair value

£’000

Increase in 
fair value

£’000

Decrease in 
fair value

£’000

Revenue return (1,831) 1,831 (1,151) 1,151 

Capital return 183,118 (183,118) 115,052 (115,052)

Change to the profit after tax for the year 181,287 (181,287) 113,901 (113,901)

Change to Shareholders' funds 181,287 (181,287) 113,901 (113,901)

Change to NAV per share (pence) 136.83 (136.83) 86.07 (86.07)

	 (ii) Currency Risk
The Company’s total return and net assets can be significantly affected by currency translation movements as 
the majority of the Company’s assets and revenue are denominated in currencies other than Sterling.

	 Management of the risk
The Investment Manager mitigates the individual currency risks through the international spread of 
investments and may make use of forward foreign exchange contracts. Borrowings in foreign currencies are 
entered into to manage the asset exposure to those currencies, which vary according to the asset allocation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

28 	 DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
	 Foreign currency exposure

The table below shows, by currency, the split of the Company’s non-sterling monetary assets, liabilities and 
investments that are priced in currencies other than Sterling.

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016 
£’000

Monetary Assets:
Cash and short-term receivables

US Dollars 46,300 41,611 
Euros 11,641 11,484 
Japanese Yen 12,174 11,336 
Hong Kong Dollars 1,255 –
Taiwan Dollars 1,099 2,025 
Swedish Kroner 703 302 
Indian Rupee 40 34 

Monetary Liabilities:
Payables

US Dollars (13) (12,803)
Japanese Yen (12) (13)
Canadian Dollars – (410)

Bank Loans:
US Dollars (17,777) (15,701)
Japanese Yen (19,416) (17,864)

Foreign currency exposure on net monetary items
Non-Monetary Items:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss that are equities

US Dollars 940,437 622,783 
Japanese Yen 71,909 36,512 
Korean Won 69,700 11,942 
Euros 42,564 21,614 
Taiwan Dollars 38,091 29,178 
Hong Kong Dollars 33,483 16,686 
Canadian Dollars 7,699 1,025 
Swedish Kroner 1,824 4,492 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss that are derivatives
US Dollars 716 2,244 

Total net foreign currency exposure 1,241,701 766,477

During the financial year Sterling depreciated by 11.7% against the US Dollar (2016: depreciated by 4.7%), 
depreciated by 8.0% (2016: depreciated by 16.4%) against the Japanese Yen, depreciated by 7.1% (2016: 
depreciated by 6.7%) against the Euro, depreciated by 11.5% (2016: depreciated by 4.6%) against the Hong Kong 
Dollar, depreciated by 11.8% (2016: appreciated by 1.3%) against the Korean Won and depreciated by 17.4% 
(2016: appreciated by 0.4%) against the Taiwan Dollar.
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	 Foreign currency sensitivity
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the loss after tax for the year and the value of Shareholders’  
funds in regard to the financial assets and financial liabilities and the exchange rates for the £/US Dollar,  
£/Euro, £/Japanese Yen, £/Hong Kong Dollar, £/Korean Won and £/Taiwan Dollar.

Based on the year end position, if Sterling had depreciated by a further 10% against the currencies shown,  
this would have the following effect:

30 April 2017
 £’000

US Dollar Euro Yen
Hong Kong

Dollar
Korean 

Won
Taiwan
Dollar

Statement of Comprehensive Income – 
profit after tax

Revenue return 464 25 99 9 82 94 

Capital return 107,740 6,022 8,073 3,860 7,744 4,354 

Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year 108,204 6,047 8,172 3,869 7,826 4,448 

Change to Shareholders' funds 108,204 6,047 8,172 3,869 7,826 4,448 

30 April 2016
£’000

US Dollar Euro Yen
Hong Kong 

Dollar
Korean 

Won
Taiwan 
Dollar

Statement of Comprehensive Income – 
profit after tax

Revenue return 356 32 33 5 19 110 

Capital return 70,904 3,677 3,330 1,854 1,327 3,448 

Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year 71,260 3,709 3,363 1,859 1,346 3,558 

Change to Shareholders' funds 71,260 3,709 3,363 1,859 1,346 3,558 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

28 	 DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Based on the year end position, if Sterling had appreciated by a further 10% against the currencies shown, this 
would have the following effect:

30 April 2017
£’000

US Dollar Euro Yen
Hong Kong 

Dollar
Korean 

Won
Taiwan 
Dollar

Statement of Comprehensive Income - 
profit after tax

Revenue return (380) (20) (81) (8) (67) (77)

Capital return (88,151) (4,928) (6,605) (3,158) (6,336) (3,563)

Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year (88,531) (4,948) (6,686) (3,166) (6,403) (3,640)

Change to Shareholders' funds (88,531) (4,948) (6,686) (3,166) (6,403) (3,640)

30 April 2016
£’000

US Dollar Euro Yen
Hong Kong 

Dollar
Korean 

Won
Taiwan 
Dollar

Statement of Comprehensive Income - 
profit after tax

Revenue return (291) (26) (27) (5) (16) (90)

Capital return (58,013) (3,009) (2,725) (1,517) (1,086) (2,821)

Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year (58,304) (3,035) (2,752) (1,522) (1,102) (2,911)

Change to Shareholders' funds (58,304) (3,035) (2,752) (1,522) (1,102) (2,911)

In the opinion of the Directors, neither of the above sensitivity analyses are representative of the year as a 
whole since the level of exposure changes frequently as part of the currency risk management process used to 
meet the Company’s objectives.

	 (iii) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate changes may affect the income received from cash at bank and interest payable on borrowings.

All cash balances earn interest at a variable rate.

The Company finances its operations through its term loans as well as bank overdrafts and any retained gains 
arising from operations.

The Company uses borrowings in the desired currencies at both fixed and floating rates of interest to both 
generate the desired interest rate profile and manage the exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

	 Management of the risk
The Board imposes borrowing limits to ensure gearing levels are appropriate to market conditions and 
reviews these on a regular basis. The Company may also enter into interest rate swap agreements.
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	 Interest rate exposure
The exposure, at 30 April, of financial assets and liabilities to interest rate risk is shown by reference to:

•	 floating interest rates (i.e. giving cash flow interest rate risk) – when the rate is due to be reset;

•	 fixed interest rates (i.e. giving fair value interest rate risk) – when the financial instrument is due 
for repayment.

30 April 2017 30 April 2016

Within 
one year

£’000

More than 
one year

£’000
Total

£’000

Within 
one year

£’000

More than 
one year

£’000
Total

£’000

Exposure to floating interest rates: 63,602 – 63,602 70,325 – 70,325 

Cash and Cash equivalents 

Exposure to fixed interest rates:

Bank loan (37,193) – (37,193) (33,565) – (33,565)

Total exposure to interest rates 26,409 – 26,409 36,760 – 36,760 

	 Interest rate sensitivity
The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s monetary financial instruments held at each balance sheet 
date, with all other variables held constant.

The table below illustrates the Company’s sensitivity to interest rate movements, with a change of 0.25% p.a. 
in the rates of interest available to the Company’s financial assets and a change of 0.25% p.a in the rates of 
interest available to the Company’s financial liabilities. The effect on the revenue and capital return after tax 
and the value of Shareholders’ funds are as follows if rates increased:

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016 
£’000

Statement of Comprehensive Income – profit after tax:

Revenue return 66 92 

Capital return – –

Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year 66 92 

Change to Shareholders’ funds 66 92 

A corresponding decrease in the rate would have equal and opposite effect to that shown in the table above.	

This level of change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market 
conditions. This is not representative of the year as a whole, since the exposure changes as level of cash/
(loans) held during the year will be affected by the strategy being followed in response to the Investment 
Manager’s perception of market prospects and the investment opportunities available at any particular time.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2017 continued

28 	 DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
	 (b) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the possibility of failure of the Company to realise sufficient assets to meet its financial liabilities.

	 Management of the risk
The Company’s assets mainly comprise readily realisable securities which may be sold to meet funding 
requirements as necessary.

	 Liquidity risk exposure
The maturity of the Company’s existing borrowings are set out in Note 17 to the Financial Statements.  
Short-term flexibility is achieved through the use of overdraft facilities.

At 30 April the financial liabilities comprised of:

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016 
£’000

Due within 1 month:

Balances due to brokers 12,545 13,188 

Accruals 2,956 2,109 

Due after 3 months and within 1 year:

Bank loan 37,490 33,832

	 (c) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the exposure to loss from failure of a counterparty to deliver securities or cash for acquisitions or 
disposals of investments or to repay deposits. 

	 Management of the risk
The Company manages credit risk by using brokers from a database of approved brokers and by dealing 
through Polar Capital.

All cash balances are held with approved counterparties. HSBC Bank plc is the custodian of the Company’s 
assets. The Company’s assets are segregated from HSBC’s own trading assets and are expected to be 
protected in the event that HSBC were to cease trading.

These arrangements were in place throughout the current year and the prior year.

	 Credit risk exposure
The maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 April 2017 was £84,591,000 (30 April 2016: £83,091,000) comprising:

30 April 2017 
£’000

30 April 2016 
£’000

Balances due from brokers 20,021 12,238 

Accrued income 896 528 

Cash at bank 63,602 70,325 

84,519 83,091 

All of the above financial assets are current, their fair values are considered to be the same as the values 
shown and the likelihood of a material credit default is considered low.

None of the Company’s financial assets are past due or impaired. All deposits were placed with banks that  
had a rating of A or higher.	

Investment transactions are carried out with a large number of brokers, the credit standing of each is 
reviewed periodically by the Investment Manager and limits are set on the amount that may be due from any 
one broker.
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	 (d) Gearing risk
The Company’s policy is to increase its exposure to equity markets through the judicious use of borrowings. 
When borrowings are invested in such markets, the effect is to magnify the impact on Shareholder’s funds of 
changes, both positive and negative, in the value of the portfolio.

	 Management of the risk
The Company uses short-term loans to manage gearing risk, details of which can be found in Note 17.	

	 Gearing risk exposure
The loans are valued at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method in the Financial Statements.  
The Board regulates the overall level of gearing by raising or lowering cash balances.	

	 (e) Capital Management Policies and Procedures
The Company’s capital, or equity, is represented by its net assets which are managed to achieve the Company’s 
investment objective set out on page 37.

The Board monitors and reviews the broad structure of the Company’s capital on an ongoing basis. This 
review includes:

(i)	 the planned level of gearing through the Company’s fixed rate loan facility and

(ii)	� the need to issue or buy back equity shares for cancellation, which takes account of the difference between 
the net asset value per share and the share price (ie the level of share price discount or premium).

The Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital are unchanged from the preceding 
accounting period.

The Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements through the Companies Act with respect to 
its status as a public company.

In addition in order to pay dividends out of profits available for distribution by way of dividend, the Company has 
to be able to meet one of the two capital restriction tests imposed on investment companies by company law. 
The Company is also subject to externally imposed capital requirements through the loan covenants set out in 
the loan facility.

These requirements are unchanged since the previous year end and the Company has complied with them.
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INVESTMENT MANAGER AND AIFM
Polar Capital LLP 
Authorised and regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority

PORTFOLIO MANAGER
Ben Rogoff

COMPANY SECRETARY
Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited 
represented by Neil Taylor

REGISTERED OFFICE AND ADDRESS FOR 
CONTACTING THE DIRECTORS
16 Palace Street, London SW1E 5JD  
020 7227 2700

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
In respect of the 2017 audit:  
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Atria One, 144 Morrison Street, 
Edinburgh EH3 8EX

Subject to Shareholder approval at the AGM on 
7 September 2017 KPMG LLP are to be appointed  
Auditors for the financial year ended 30 April 2018

SOLICITOR
Herbert Smith Freehills LLP 
Exchange House, 
Primrose Street, 
London EC2A 2EG

CORPORATE BROKER
Cenkos Securities plc 
6.7.8. Tokenhouse Yard, 
London EC2R 7AS

DEPOSITARY, BANKERS AND CUSTODIAN
HSBC Bank plc 
8 Canada Square 
London E14 5HQ

COMPANY / REGISTERED NUMBER
Polar Capital Technology Trust plc (the Company)  
is incorporated in England and Wales with company 
number 3224867 and registered as an investment 
company under section 833 of the Companies Act 2006.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
The key dates in the Company’s financial year are 
as follows:

30 April Financial year-end 

Early July Announcement of year-end results 

Early September Annual General Meeting

31 October Half-year end 

Mid December Announcement of half-year results 

STATEMENT BY THE DEPOSITARY 
The statement of the Depositary's responsibilities in 
respect of the Company and its report to Shareholders 
for the year ended 30 April 2017 is available on the 
Company's website. The Depositary, having carried out 
such procedures as it considered necessary, was 
satisfied that in all material respects the Company was 
managed in accordance with the applicable FCA rules 
and AIFMD.

STATEMENT BY THE AIFM 
The statement by the AIFM in respect of matters to be 
disclosed to investors for the year ended 30 April 2017  
is available on the Company's website.

SECURITIES FINANCING TRANSACTIONS
The Securities Financing Transactions Regulation, as 
published by the European Securities and Markets 
Authority, aims to improve the transparency of the 
securities financing markets. Disclosures regarding 
exposure to Securities Financing Transactions (SFTs)  
or total return swaps will be required on all reports & 
accounts published after 13 January 2017. During the 
period to 30 April 2017 and at the balance sheet date,  
the Company did not use SFTs or total return swaps,  
as such no disclosure is required.

CONTACTS & INFORMATION
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Information on Capital Gains Tax is available on the HM Revenue & Customs website (www.hmrc.gov.uk/cgt/index).

When shares are disposed of a capital gain may result if the disposal proceeds exceed the sum of the base cost of 
the shares sold and any other allowable deductions such as share dealing costs. The exercise of subscription shares 
into ordinary shares should not have given rise to a capital gain, however a capital gain may arise on the eventual 
disposal of those shares.

The calculations required to compute capital gains may be complex and depend on personal circumstances. 
Shareholders are advised to consult their personal financial advisor for further information regarding a possible tax 
liability in respect of their shareholdings.

SHAREHOLDERS MAY FIND THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION  
USEFUL WHEN CONSIDERING THEIR TAX POSITION
The Company was launched on 16 December 1996 with the issue of ordinary shares at £1 per share and one 
warrant issued free for every five ordinary shares.

FORMER SHAREHOLDERS OF TR TECHNOLOGY PLC
Former Shareholders of TR Technology PLC who accepted the offers made by Polar Capital Technology Trust plc 
for their shares in TR Technology PLC may find the following table helpful:

TR Technology plc Polar Capital Technology Trust plc 

For each ordinary share of 25p each: On 16 December 1996, one C share of 200p each. 

On 14 March 1997, on conversion of the C shares, 3.94342 ordinary shares  
of 25p each and one warrant to subscribe for ordinary shares in respect  
of every five ordinary shares arising on conversion of the C shares.

For each stepped preference share 
of 25p each:

On 16 December 1996, 1.5561743 ordinary shares of 25p each and one 
warrant to subscribe for ordinary shares in respect of every five such 
ordinary shares.

For each zero dividend  
preference share of 25p each:

On 16 December 1996, 2.7392426 ordinary shares of 25p each and one 
warrant to subscribe for ordinary shares in respect of every five such 
ordinary shares.

MARKET PRICES OF THE COMPANY’S ORDINARY SHARES  
AND WARRANTS AND SUBSCRIPTION SHARES
The market prices, for capital gains tax purposes, of the Company’s ordinary shares and warrants at the close of 
business on 16 December 1996, the first day of dealings in the Company’s ordinary shares and warrants, and 
17 March 1997, the first day of dealings after the conversion of the C shares, were as follows:

16 December 1996 17 March 1997

Ordinary shares of 25p each 96.0p 88.5p 

Warrants to subscribe for ordinary shares 36.0p 31.0p

The market prices, for capital gains tax purposes, of the Company’s ordinary shares and subscription shares at  
the close of business on 14 February 2011, the first day of dealings in the Company’s subscription shares were 
as follows:

14 February 2011

Ordinary shares of 25p each 390.0p 

Subscription shares of 1p each to subscribe for ordinary shares 33.5p

CAPITAL GAINS TAX
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Investing
The ordinary shares of the Company are listed and traded on the London Stock Exchange.

Investors should be aware that the value of the Company’s ordinary shares may reflect the greater relative 
volatility of technology shares. Technology shares are subject to the risks of developing technologies, competitive 
pressures and other factors including the acceptance by business and consumers of new technologies. Many 
companies in the technology sector are smaller companies and are therefore also subject to the risks attendant 
on investing in smaller capitalisation businesses.

Polar Capital Technology Trust plc is an investment trust and as such its ordinary shares are excluded from the 
FCA’s restrictions which apply to non-mainstream investment products. The Company conducts its affairs and 
intends to do so for the foreseeable future so that the exclusion continues to apply.

There are a variety of ways to invest in the Company. However, this will largely depend upon whether you would 
like financial advice or are happy to make your own investment decisions.

For those investors who would like advice:

Private Client Stockbrokers
Investors with a large lump sum to invest may want to contact a private client stockbroker. They will manage a portfolio 
of shares on behalf of a private investor and will offer a personalised service to meet an individual’s particular needs.  
A list of private client stockbrokers is available from The Personal Investment Management & Financial Advice 
Association (PIMFA) at www.pimfa.co.uk

Financial Advisers
For investors looking to find a financial adviser, please visit www.unbiased.co.uk

Financial Advisers who wish to purchase shares for their clients can also do so via a growing number of 
platforms that offer investment trusts including Alliance Trust Savings, Ascentric, Nucleus, Raymond James, 
Seven IM and Transact.

For those investors who are happy to make their own investment decisions:

Online Stockbroking Services
There are a number of real time execution only stockbroker services which allow private investors to trade online 
for themselves, manage a portfolio and buy UK listed shares. Online stockbroking services include Alliance Trust 
Savings, Barclays Stockbrokers, Halifax Share Dealing, Hargreaves Lansdown, Selftrade and TD Direct investing.

The Company has also made arrangements with its share registrars, Equiniti Limited, for investors to buy and 
sell shares through the Shareview.co.uk service. Further details can be obtained from the Shareview website or 
by calling the Shareholder helpline on 0800 876 6889.

INVESTING
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Risks
Please remember that the value of your investments and any income from them may go down as well as up. Past 
performance is not a guide to future performance. You may not get back the amount that you invest. If you are in 
any doubt as to the suitability of a plan or any investment available within a plan, please take professional advice.

Investors should be aware of the following risks when considering investing in the shares of Polar Capital 
Technology Trust plc:

•	 Past performance is not a guide to future performance. Please remember that any investment in the shares 
of Polar Capital Technology Trust either directly or through a savings scheme or ISA carries the risk that the 
value of your investment and any income from them may go down as well as up due to the fluctuations of the 
share price, the market and interest rates. This risk may result in an investor not getting back their original 
amount invested.

•	 Investors should be aware that the value of the NAV of the Company’s shares may reflect the greater relative 
volatility of technology shares. Technology shares are subject to the risks of developing technologies, 
competitive pressures and other factors including the acceptance by business and consumers of new 
technologies. Many companies in the technology sector are smaller companies and are therefore also  
subject to the risks attendant on investing in smaller capitalisation businesses.

•	 As the Company invests in overseas companies changes in exchange rates may cause fluctuations in the  
value of the investments and of your investment in the Company.

•	 The Company takes on bank debt for investment purposes (‘gearing’) which exposes the company to exchange 
risk when the borrowings are in different currencies and the value of the investments made with the borrowings 
may fall and may not be sufficient to cover the borrowings and interest costs. However the Company may 
increase or decrease its borrowing levels to suit market conditions.

•	 If you are investing through a savings plan, ISA or other investment arrangement it is important that you read 
the key features documents and understand the risks associated with investing in the shares of the Company.  
If you are in any doubt as to the suitability of a plan or any investment available within a plan, please take 
professional advice.

•	 Tax rates and reliefs change from time to time and may affect the value of your investment.

Polar Capital Technology Trust plc is a public listed company on the London Stock Exchange Premium Market 
section and complies with the UK Listing Authority’s Rules. It is not directly authorised and regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority.
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BOILER ROOM SCAMS
We are aware that Shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls or correspondence concerning investment 
matters. These are typically from overseas based ‘brokers’ who target UK Shareholders, offering to sell them what 
often turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments or offering to act on the Shareholder’s 
behalf on the payment of a retainer or similar in a spurious corporate event. These operations are commonly known 
as ‘boiler rooms’. These ‘brokers’ can be very persistent and extremely persuasive.

It is not just the novice investor that has been duped in this way; many of the victims have been successfully 
investing for several years. Shareholders are advised to be very wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy 
shares at a discount or offers of free company reports.

If you have been contacted by an unauthorised firm regarding your shares the FCA would like to hear from you.

You can report an unauthorised firm using the FCA helpline on 0845 606 1234 or 0800 111 6768 or by visiting their 
website, which also has other useful information, at www.fca.org.uk

If you receive any unsolicited investment advice:

•	 Make sure you get the correct name of the person and organisation

•	 If the calls persist, hang up

If you deal with an unauthorised firm, you will not be eligible to receive payment under the Financial Services 
Compensation Scheme.

Details of any share dealing facilities that the Company endorses will be included in company mailings.

More detailed information on this or similar activity can be found on the FCA website.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements included in this Annual Report and Financial Statements contain forward-looking information 
concerning the Company’s strategy, operations, financial performance or condition, outlook, growth opportunities 
or circumstances in the countries, sectors or markets in which the Company operates. By their nature, forward-
looking statements involve uncertainty because they depend on future circumstances, and relate to events, not all  
of which are within the Company’s control or can be predicted by the Company. Although the Company believes that 
the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, no assurance can be given that  
such expectations will prove to have been correct. Actual results could differ materially from those set out in  
the forward-looking statements. For a detailed analysis of the factors that may affect our business, financial 
performance or results of operations, we urge you to look at the principal risks and uncertainties included in the 
Strategic Report Section on pages 8 to 47 of this Annual Report. No part of these results constitutes, or shall be 
taken to constitute, an invitation or inducement to invest in Polar Capital Technology Trust plc or any other entity, 
and must not be relied upon in any way in connection with any investment decision. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

WARNINGS TO SHAREHOLDERS
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GLOSSARY

Investment terminology

AAII Bear American Association of Individual Investors sentiment survey showing the mood of individual investors 
– Bullish/Neutral/Bearish

Discount or Premium A description of the difference between the share price and the net asset value per share. The size of the 
discount or premium is calculated by subtracting the share price from the net asset value per share and 
is usually expressed as a percentage (%) of the net asset value per share. If the share price is higher that 
the net asset value per share, the result is a premium. If the share price is lower than the net asset value 
per share, the shares are trading at a discount.

Gearing Calculated using the Association of Investment Companies definition. Total assets, less current liabilities 
(before deducting any prior charges (such as borrowings)) minus cash/cash equivalents divided by 
Shareholders’ funds, expressed as a percentage.

NAV per share (pence) The value of the Company’s assets, principally investments made in other companies and cash being held, 
minus any liabilities. The NAV is also described as ‘Shareholders’ funds’ per share. The NAV is often 
expressed in pence per share after being divided by the number of shares which have been issued. The 
NAV per share is unlikely to be the same as the share price which is the price at which the Company’s 
shares can be bought or sold by an investor. The share price is determined by the relationship between  
the demand and supply of the shares. 

Ongoing Charges Ongoing charges are calculated by taking the Company’s annualised ongoing charges, excluding 
performance fees and exceptional items, and expressing them as a percentage of the average month end 
net asset value of the Company over the year.

Total Net Assets The value of the Company’s assets, principally investments made in other companies and cash being held, 
minus any liabilities.

For more information please visit our website:
www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk



Registered Office
16 Palace Street
London SW1E 5JD
Tel: 020 7227 2700
Fax: 020 7227 2799
www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk

Registrar
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA
www.shareview.co.uk
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